การกระตุ้นการหลั่งสารอักเสบภายใต้สภาวะพร่องออกซิเจนในเซลล์เนื้อเยื่อในฟันน้ำนมมนุษย์

นางสาว จรินทร โคธีรานุรักษ์

วิทยานิพนธ์นี้เป็นส่วนหนึ่งของการศึกษาตามหลักสูตรปริญญาวิทยาศาสตรมหาบัณฑิต สาขาวิชาทันตกรรมสำหรับเด็ก ภาควิชาทันตกรรมสำหรับเด็ก คณะทันตแพทยศาสตร์ จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย ปีการศึกษา 2553 ลิขสิทธิ์ของจุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย

THE STIMULATION OF INFLAMMATORY CYTOKINE RELEASE UNDER HYPOXIC CONDITION IN HUMAN DECIDUOUS DENTAL PULP CELLS

Miss Jarintorn Kotheeranurak

A Thesis Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Master of Science Program in Pediatric Dentistry Department of Pediatric Dentistry Faculty of Dentistry Chulalongkorn University Academic Year 2010 Copyright of Chulalongkorn University

Thesis Title	THE STIMULATION OF INFLAMMATORY CYTOKINE	
	RELEASE UNDER HYPOXIAC CONDITION ON HUMAN	
	DECIDUOUS DENTAL PULP CELLS	
Ву	Miss Jarintorn Kotheeranurak	
Field of Study	Pediatric Dentistry	
Thesis Advisor	Associate Professor Supaporn Chongvisal, D.D.S., M.Sc.	
Thesis Co-Advisor	Professor Prasit Pavasant, D.D.S., Ph.D.	

Accepted by the Faculty of Dentistry, Chulalongkorn University in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Master's Degree

(Associate Professor Wacharaporn Tasachan, D.D.S.)

THESIS COMMITTEE

..... Chairman

(Associate Professor Thipawan Tharapiwattananon, D.D.S., Ph.D.)

..... Thesis Advisor

(Associate Professor Supaporn Chongvisal, D.D.S., M.Sc.)

...... Thesis Co- Advisor

(Professor Prasit Pavasant, D.D.S., Ph.D.)

..... Examiner

(Lecturer Wantida Sriarj, D.D.S., Ph.D.)

..... External Examiner

(Associate Professor Siriruk Nakornchai, D.D.S., Ph.D.)

จรินทร โคธีรานุรักษ์ : การกระตุ้นการหลั่งสารอักเสบภายใต้สภาวะพร่องออกซิเจนใน เซลล์เนื้อเยื่อในฟันน้ำนมมนุษย์ (THE STIMULATION OF INFLAMMATORY CYTOKINE RELEASE UNDER HYPOXIC CONDITION IN HUMAN DECIDUOUS DENTAL PULP CELLS) อ. ที่ปรึกษาวิทยานิพนธ์หลัก: รศ.ทพญ.สุภาภรณ์ จงวิศาล, อ. ที่ปรึกษาวิทยานิพนธ์ร่วม: ศ.ทพ.ดร.ประสิทธิ์ ภวสันต์, 63 หน้า.

วัตถุประสงค์: ออกซิเจนมีบทบาทสำคัญในการเหนี่ยวนำและกระตุ้นการทำงานของเซลล์ ้ต่างๆ การศึกษาในครั้งนี้มีวัตถุประสงค์เพื่อศึกษาการตอบสนองของเซลล์เนื้อเยื่อในของพันน้ำนม มนุษย์ในการหลั่งสารอักเสบภายใต้สภาวะพร่องออกซิเจน (ออกซิเจนร้อยละ 2) **วิธีการทดลอง**: น้ำเซลล์ที่ได้มาจากเนื้อเยื่อในของน้ำนมมนุษย์ในห้องปฏิบัติการมาเพาะเลี้ยงเพื่อศึกษาการ เจริญเติบโตและการสร้างโปรตีนของเซลล์ภายใต้สภาวะออกซิเจนต่ำ เป็นระยะเวลา 6, 9, 12, และ 15 ชั่วโมง โดยใช้วิธีเมทตาบอลิก แอสเส (เอ็มทีที) และ วิธีเอ็นไซม์ลิงค์ อิมมูโนซอร์เบนท์ แอ อเส (อีไลซา) ศึกษาระดับการแสดงออกของอาร์เอ็นเอน้ำรหัสใช้วิธีรีเวอร์ส ทรานสคิปชั่น โพลิเมอร์ เลสเชน รีแอคชั่น (อาร์ที-พีซีอาร์) **ผลการทดลอง**: พบว่าเซลล์เนื้อเยื่อในโพรงฟันน้ำนมมนุษย์ ภายใต้สภาวะออกซิเจนต่ำมีการแสดงออกของยีนและโปรตีนที่เกี่ยวข้องกับการอักเสบโดยเฉพาะ อินเตอร์ลิวคิน- 6 (IL-6) สูงกว่าเซลล์ที่อยู่ในสภาวะปกติ (ออกซิเจนร้อยละ 20) โดยสามารถเริ่มพบ ความแตกต่างอย่างชัดเจนในกลุ่มเซลล์ที่อยู่ภายใต้สภาวะออกซิเจนต่ำเป็นระยะเวลา 12 ชั่วโมง การใส่โคบอลท์คลอไรด์สามารถเพิ่มระดับของการหลั่งอินเตอร์ลิวคิน- 6 ได้เช่นกัน นอกจากนี้ สภาวะพร่องออกซิเจนยังสามารถกระตุ้นให้เกิดการแสดงออกที่เพิ่มขึ้นของยีนเร็กซ์-1 (Rex-1) โดย การใส่สารละลายอินเตอร์ลิวคิน-6 นิวทรอไลซิ่ง แอนติบอดี้ (IL-6 neutralizing antibody) สามารถ ลดระดับการแสดงออกของยีนเร็กซ์- 1 ได้ **วิจารณ์ผลการทดลอง**: การเพิ่มขึ้นของการหลั่งสาร อักเสบโดยเฉพาะอินเตอร์ลิวคิน- 6 เป็นการตอบสนองที่ผ่านไฮปอกเซีย- อินดิวซิเบิล แฟคเตอร์-1lpha(HIF-1α) และอินเตอร์ลิวคิน- 6 มีผลต่อการเพิ่มขึ้นของการแสดงออกของยีนเร็กซ์- 1 ในเซลล์ เนื้อเยื่อในของฟันน้ำนมภายใต้สภาวะออกซิเจนต่ำ ซึ่งการตอบสนองของเซลล์ในการหลั่งสาร คินเตอร์ลิวคิน- 6 ที่ค่อนข้างซ้านี้น่าจะแสดงถึงการมีบทบาทของสารนี้ที่เกี่ยวข้องกับกระบวนการ ้ซ่อมแซมเซลล์ การเพิ่มจำนวนเซลล์หรือการแปรสภาพของเซลล์ เพื่อตอบสนองต่อสภาวะพร่อง คคกฑิเจบ

ภาควิชา ทันตกรรมสำหรับเด็ก	ลายมือชื่อนิสิต
สาขาวิชา <u>ทันตกรรมสำหรับเด็ก</u>	ลายมือชื่ออ.ที่ปรึกษาวิทยานิพนธ์หลัก
ปีการศึกษา2553	ลายมือชื่ออ.ที่ปรึกษาวิทยานิพนธ์ร่วม

5176105332 : MAJOR PEDIATRIC DENTISTRY

KEYWORDS : HYPOXIA, STEM CELLS FROM HUMAN EXFOLIATED DECIDUOUS TEETH (SHED), HYPOXIA- INDUCIBLE TRANSCRIPTION FACTOR (HIF), VASCULAR ENDOTHELIAL GROWTH FACTOR (VEGF), INTERLEUKIN-6 (IL-6)

JARINTORN KOTHEERANURAK: THE STIMULATION OF INFLAMMATORY CYTOKINE RELEASE UNDER HYPOXIC CONDITION IN HUMAN DECIDUOUS DENTAL PULP CELLS. THESIS ADVISOR: ASSOC. PROF. SUPAPORN CHONGVISAL, D.D.S., M.Sc., THESIS CO- ADVISOR: PROF. PRASIT PAVASANT, D.D.S., M.Sc., Ph.D., 63 pp.

Objective: Oxygen plays an important role in signal transduction and regulation of cell behavior. The aim of this study was to investigate the response of SHED to hypoxia $(2\%O_2)$ especially on the inflammatory cytokine release. Materials and methods: Dental pulp cells were obtained from exfoliated deciduous teeth. Cells were cultured and put under hypoxic condition $(2\%O_2)$ for 6, 9, 12, and 15 hours. The number of cells was determined by metabolic assay (MTT assay). The changes in RNA expression were examined by reverse transcription polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR) and the amount of protein was measured using enzymelinked immunosorbent assay (ELISA). Result: The results showed that 2% oxygen could significantly up-regulate IL-6 expression and secretion after 12 hours under hypoxia condition. Cobalt chloride (CoCl₂) could also increase IL-6 secretion in a dose-dependent manner. Hypoxia could up-regulate Rex-1 expression and the use of IL-6 neutralizing antibody demonstrated the role of IL-6 in Rex-1 induction. Discussion: The data from this study suggested that the HIF-1 α dependent upregulation of IL-6 expression is a late response. The hypoxia-induced IL-6 can induce Rex-1 expression in SHED and may play a role in cell tissues repair or cell proliferation/ differentiation in response to the low oxygen environment.

Department : Pediatric Dentistry	Student's Signature
Field of Study : Pediatric Dentistry	Advisor's Signature
Academic Year : 2010	Co-Advisor's Signature

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I sincerely thank and appreciate to my thesis advisor, Associate Professor Supaporn Chongvisal and my thesis co-advisor, Professor Dr. Prasit Pavasant for their suggestion, encouragement, attention and kindness throughout the course of my Master degree program. I would like to give thanks for my thesis committee members; Associate Professor Dr. Thippawan Tarapiwattananont, Associate Professor Dr. Siriruk Nakornchai and Lect. Dr. Wantida Sri-arj for their suggestion and kindness.

Sincere appreciation is expressed to the staffs of the Unit of Mineralized Tissue Laboratory for their kind advice and technical assistance. Moreover, I would like to thank the staff of the Department of Pediatric Dentistry, Faculty of Dentistry, Chulalongkorn University for their kindness and for collecting and preserving the extracted deciduous teeth.

Finally, I would like to thank sincerely to my family and my friends for their love, help, understanding and encouragement throughout the course of my program.

CONTENTS

Page

Abstract (Thai)			
Abstract (English)			
Acknowledgements			
Contents			
List of Tables	ix		
List of Figures	х		
List of Abbreviations	xii		
Chapter			
I. Introduction	1		
1.1 Background and Rationale	1		
1.2 Research Questions	2		
1.3 Research Objectives	2		
1.4 Research Hypothesis	2		
1.5 Keywords	3		
1.6 Research Design	3		
1.7 Limitations of the Study	3		
1.8 Pre- Agreement	3		
1.9 Expected Outcome	3		
II. Literature Review	4		
2.1 Hypoxia	4		
2.2 Hypoxia- Inducible Transcription Factor (HIF)	6		
2.3 Hypoxia and Inflammation	9		
2.4 Hypoxia in Dentistry	9		

III. Materials and Methods	
3.1 Population	11

Page

viii

3.2 Samples: Inclusion Criteria, Exclusion Criteria	11	
3.3 Study Variables	12	
3.4 Materials	12	
3.5 Equipments	14	
3.6 Sample Collection	15	
3.7 Cell Culture	15	
3.8 Hypoxic Condition	15	
3.9 MTT Assay	16	
3.10 RT- PCR	16	
3.11 ELISA	17	
3.12 Effects of Hypoxia on hDDP Cells	18	
3.13 Cell Response to Re-oxygenation after Hypoxic Condition	18	
3.14 Role of HIF-1 in Hypoxia-induced IL-6	19	
3.15 Statistic Analysis	20	
3.16 Ethical Considerations	20	
IV. Results	21	
4.1 Effects of Hypoxia on Cell Morphology and Cell Number	21	
4.2 Hypoxia Induced Expression of VEGF and IL- 6 in hDDP Cells		
4.3 The Increase in the Level of IL-6 Protein after 12 Hours under		
Hypoxic Condition	24	
4.4 Hypoxia-Induced IL-6 can be Observed after 1 Hour under		
Hypoxic Condition	25	
4.5 HIF-1 was Involved in Hypoxia- Induced IL-6: Hypoxia induces		
VEGF and IL-6 expression via HIF-1 $lpha$	27	
4.6 Hypoxia Up-Regulates Rex-1 Expression via IL-6 Secretion	28	
V. Discussion, Conclusion, and Suggestion	30	
References	37	
Appendix		
Biography		

LIST OF TABLES

Table		Page
1.	Sequences of the Primers and the RT-PCR Cycles Used in the	
	Experiment	17

LIST OF FIGURES

Figu	Figure	
1.	The Degradation Pathway of HIF-1 $oldsymbol{lpha}$	7
2.	The Proposed Model for HIF- $oldsymbol{lpha}$ Stabilization by Cobalt	8
3.	A Study Design for the "Cell Response to Re-Oxygenation after Hypoxic	
	Condition" Experiment	19
4.	Summary of the Study	20
5.	The Morphology of Cell in Cultures	21
6.	The Cell Number after Hypoxia	22
7.	The results of Hypoxia from RT-PCR analysis	23
8.	ELISA Analysis of Secreted IL-6 from hDDP Cells under Hypoxic	
	Condition from 6 to 15 Hours	24
9.	The Effect of Hypoxia for 1, 3, 6, and 12 Hours on hDDP Cells	25
10.	The Effect of Re-Oxygenation on the IL-6 Secretion	26
11. The Summary of Cells Cultured in Hypoxia for 1 Hour Followed by 11		
	Hours in Normoxia Compared to the Control Culture for 1 and 12 Hours in	
	Нурохіа	26
12.	Effects of $CoCl_2$ on the Up-Regulation of the VEGF and IL-6 Levels	
	Secreted by hDDP Cells	27
13.	The RT-PCR Analysis of Rex-1, OCT4, and Nanog Expressions from	
	hDDP Cells Underwent Hypoxia for 12 Hours	28
14.	The Inhibition of Rex-1 Expression under Hypoxia by IL-6 Neutralizing	
	Antibody	29

•

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

CoCl ₂	cobalt chloride
ELISA	enzyme- linked immunosorbent assay
hDDP cells	human deciduous dental pulp cells
HIF	hypoxia-inducible transcription factors
IL- 6	interleukin- 6
IL-1β	interleukin- 1 β
0 ₂	oxygen
RT-PCR	reversed transcription- polymerase chain
	reaction
SHED	stem cells from human exfoliated
	deciduous teeth
TNF-α	tumor necrosis factor- $lpha$
VEGF	vascular endothelial growth factor

CHAPTER I INTRODUCTION

Background and Rationale

The level of tissue oxygenation is one of the factors that can affect the tissue homeostasis. In normal tissues, a hypoxic condition can be found associated with reduced blood flow. The significance of hypoxic condition in tissue homeostasis has been described in many organs including bone (1-2), cartilage (3), cornea (4) and vascular tissues (5-6). For dental pulps, the structure of human teeth with narrow vascular openings at the apex of the roots makes it susceptible to the hypoxic condition. Hypoxic condition within the dental pulp tissue can frequently occur when the blood supply to tissues is disrupted as in the case of dental trauma, inflammation or during the use of local anesthetics containing vasoconstrictors (7).

It has been demonstrated that oxygen can regulate the signal transduction and subsequently control the expression of target genes. Hypoxic condition is generally correlated with the up-regulation of vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), a potent angiogenic growth factor, leading to the increasing rate of new blood vessels formation (*6*). In addition, correlation between hypoxia and tissue inflammation has also been reported (*8*). During inflammation, up-regulation of pro-inflammatory cytokines such as interleukin (IL)-1 β , IL-6, and tumor necrosis factor- α (TNF- α) were observed (*9*). In bone healing, osteoprogenitor cells, regardless of their origin, can differentiate into either osteoblasts or chondrocytes (*10*). A study showed that low oxygen tension (5%O₂) or hypoxia resulted in cartilaginous matrix synthesis and high oxygen condition (35%O₂) induced mesenchymal tissue differentiation toward bone (*11*), suggesting the effect of oxygen concentration on the bone formation and osteogenic differentiation.

The principal regulator of the transcriptional response to hypoxia is the hypoxiainducible transcription factors (HIF) family of transcription factors (12-13). In hypoxic condition, activation of HIF has been reported (13-16). HIF will be trans-located into the nucleus in hypoxic condition, bound to hypoxia-responsive elements (HRE) and regulated gene expression (17) such as vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), a key regulator of blood vessel growth (angiogenesis), erythropoietin, a cytokine required for the formation of red blood cells and tyrosine hydroxylase, the rate-limiting enzyme in dopamine synthesis (18).

Nevertheless, there are few reports regarding the responses of human deciduous dental pulp cells (hDDP cells) to hypoxia, or the molecular mechanisms responsible for resistance to hypoxia by pulp cells, and the effect of hypoxia on the up-regulation of inflammatory cytokines is still unclear. It has been reported that hDDP cells obtained stem cells characteristic and has been described as stem cells from human exfoliated deciduous teeth (SHED) *(19)*. Since the level of oxygen can influence the function and differentiation of cells, it is possible that oxygen level may influence cell behavior and might affect the differentiation or repairing activity of hDDP cells/ SHED.

The purpose of this study is to investigate the response of hDDP cells or SHED to the hypoxic condition, especially on the inflammatory cytokine release. In addition, the mechanism involved in the hypoxia-induced cytokine release will be examined.

Research Questions

Can hypoxic condition stimulate the expression of the inflammatory cytokines in hDDP cells.

Research Objective

To investigate the response of hDDP cells to hypoxic condition especially on the inflammatory cytokine release.

Research Hypotheses

Hypoxic condition can stimulate the expression of the inflammatory cytokines in hDDP cells.

Keywords

Hypoxia, Human deciduous dental pulp cells (hDDP cells), Stem cells from human exfoliated deciduous teeth (SHED), Hypoxia- inducible transcription factor (HIF), Interleukin-6 (IL-6)

Research Design

Laboratory experimental study

Limitation of the Study

The results from this study may represent only the tendency of cell responses when facing hypoxic condition as the conventional tissue culture condition (used as a controlled condition) exposed to dental pulp cells is non-physiological atmospheric levels of oxygen (20%) and most cells are not normally exposed to such high pO_2 in vivo.

Pre-agreement

The hypoxic condition is the condition with 2% oxygen.

The controlled condition is the condition with 20% oxygen

Expected Outcomes

Hypoxia or ischemia is an important pathogenic factor for many body vital tissues including dental pulp cells. It has become apparent that hypoxia can greatly impact the development of inflammation through the regulation of oxygen- dependent gene expression *(20)*. Therefore, the better understanding about the inflammatory- related response of the SHED under the hypoxic condition will benefit both basic knowledge and clinical application.

CHAPTER II

LITERATURE REVIEW

Hypoxia

Oxygen is essential in cells and tissues survival. The level of oxygen, high or low, can lead to a number of pathophysiological consequences. In normal condition, the oxygen partial pressure (pO_2) of inspired air is around 160 mmHg (20% O_2) at sea level. After water evaporation and diffusion in the lung, the level of pO_2 of the alveolar capillaries carrying towards organs and tissues can drop to around 104 mmHg (13% O_2) (21). The level of tissue oxygenation is one of the factors that can affect the tissue homeostasis. Low oxygen tension in tissues or hypoxia is an inadequate oxygen perfusion of the tissues. It occurs when the blood cannot deliver adequate oxygen to the tissues or organs, which may result from pulmonary dysfunction, cardiovascular dysfunction, stroke, traumatic brain injury (TBI), disorders of the blood such as anemia that affect erythrocytes (red blood cells) or hemoglobin, and breathing disturbances such as apnea. Hypoxia also occurs in healthy individuals when breathing mixtures of gases with low oxygen content, e.g. while diving underwater, especially when using closed-circuit re-breather systems that control the amount of oxygen in the supplied air (22).

Low oxygen concentration is an essential developmental and physiological stimulus that plays a key role in the pathophysiology of many important organs (23). In arterial blood, interstitial oxygen tension (pO_2) is about 95 mmHg (~12%), and about 40 mmHg (~5%) in venous and capillary blood. In normal tissue, it is roughly in the range 4-8% (24). In environments such as the poorly vascularized yellow fatty bone marrow of the elderly, or in wounds, infected tissues, inflamed tissues, fractured sites, and tumors, pO_2 could be lower (2). Permanent tissue damage or tissue death results when hypoxia persists (25). The significance of hypoxic condition in tissue homeostasis has been described in many organs including bone (1-2), cartilage (3), cornea (4) and vascular tissues (5-6).

There is a gradient of oxygen concentration in the human body. The cells located nearby the blood vessels obtain oxygen more efficiently than the cells apart from these vessels. Therefore, hypoxic regions occur throughout the body. Hypoxia may involve only a defined organ or area, such as a region of the brain affected by stroke, or involves the entire body (22). Most of the tissues or organs in the human body are hypoxic in comparison to the oxygen concentration in the air and it is normally within the range of 2-9% (26). In some tissues, the oxygen level can be lower than 1%, thus make the oxygen level of the conventional tissue culture using atmospheric air about 2.5- 20 times higher. This tissue hypoxic condition is referred to 'physiological hypoxia', where the tissues do not necessarily activate the hypoxic response (27).

When cells encounter hypoxic conditions, one of the major changes is their metabolic state. Under aerobic condition, cells utilize the tricarboxylic acid (TCA) cycle and oxidative phospholylation in the mitochondria as well as glycolysis for energy production. Since the oxidative phospholylation process requires oxygen, under hypoxic condition, they rely only on the glycolysis pathway for energy production *(28)*. Furthermore, they also decrease the metabolic rate, such as translation rate, to limit cellular activity *(29)*.

Hypoxic condition could be superior to maintain cells in a non- dividing, or at least, slow cycling, stage and to protect cells from the accumulation of reactive oxygen species (ROS) because of the decreasing in mitochondrial respiration due to limitation in oxygen. Excess amount of ROS can be detrimental to cells due to highly reactive molecules, such as, hydrogen peroxide, superoxide, and the hydroxyl radical (*30*). In addition to energy deprivation, radical formation, in particular ROS generation contributes to hypoxia induced apoptosis (*31*).

Hypoxia- Inducible Transcription Factor (HIF)

It has been demonstrated that oxygen can regulate the signal transduction and subsequently control the expression of target genes. In normal tissue, the hypoxic condition can be associated with the reduced or excessive blood flow and the activation of HIF subunits has been reported *(13-16)*.

HIF, a master regulator of cellular response to hypoxia is the primary source of metabolic energy that widely expressed in all eukaryotic cells and tissues (18). HIF is a heterodimeric transcription factor, composed of one of the 3 oxygen- sensitive HIF- α subunits (HIF- 1 α , HIF- 2 α , and HIF- 3 α) and the oxygen- insensitive and constitutively expressed HIF- β subunits (32-33). While HIF- 1 α and HIF- 2 α subunits are structurally similar in their DNA binding and dimerisation domains, their adaptive responses to hypoxia are distinctive. A study suggests that HIF- 1 α is ubiquitous and responds only to severe hypoxia whereas HIF- 2 α is restricted to certain tissues and stabilized in relatively moderate hypoxia (34-35). And the role of HIF- 3 α is yet to be clearly defined. The β subunit or arylhydrocarbon nuclear translocator (ARNT) is expressed independently of pO₂, whereas the α subunit is oxygen sensitive. HIF- α cannot be detected unless cells are challenged by hypoxia. In the presence of oxygen above a critical intracellular oxygen tension, HIF- α is rapidly degraded in the ubiquitin-proteasome dependent degradation (18, 36).

In hypoxic condition, HIF- α subunits will be trans-located into the nucleus, dimerizes with HIF- β subunit and regulate various gene expressions (17) such as vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), a potent angiogenic growth factor, leading to an increasing rate of new blood vessels formation (6).



Figure 1. The degradation pathway of HIF-1 α

However, in some conditions, even with the present of oxygen, HIF can be detected. It has been well documented that cobalt, a transition metal, mimics hypoxia by causing the stabilization of HIF- α . Cobalt can inactivate the HIF-specific hydroxylase by occupying an iron- binding site on the proline hydroxylases (*37*), or binding directly to the oxygen-dependent degradation (ODD) domain of HIF- α . Furthermore, cobalt also can inhibit the von Hippel-Lindau protein (pVHL) binding to HIF- α even when HIF- α is hydroxylated (*38*).





Yuan Y, Hilliard G, et al. J Bio Chem, 2003.

Figure 2. The proposed model for HIF- α stabilization by cobalt

Hypoxia and Inflammation

Inflammation is a part of the complex biological responses of vascular tissues to harmful stimuli. It is characterized by the increase in blood flow to the affected tissues, resulting in tissues redness, swelling, heat, pain, and sometimes, immobility or loss of function (39).

During inflammation, up-regulation of pro-inflammatory cytokines such as interleukin (IL)- 1 β , IL- 6, and tumor necrosis factor - α (TNF- α) was observed (9). IL-1 β , and TNF- α are known to be the potent stimulants of many genes involved in inflammation and bone destruction (40). IL-6 is a multifunctional cytokine with anti- inflammatory properties that affects multiple cell types (41-42). IL- 1 β and IL-6 have both been shown to regulate VEGF levels in a variety of tissues including blood- derived endothelial progenitor cell (43), and pituitary adenoma cells (44). In addition, IL- 6 was suggested to have angiogenesis induction either through its effects on VEGF expression (45) or by its direct stimulation in many cells such as endothelial cells (43).

The correlation between hypoxia and tissue inflammation has been reported. Just as hypoxia can induce inflammation, inflamed lesions often become severely hypoxic. The likely causes of hypoxia during inflammation are the increasing of the cells metabolic activity resulting in elevated oxygen demand (46), and the vasculopathy caused by extensive inflammation leading to poor perfusion and subsequently decreased oxygen supply (47).

Hypoxia in Dentistry

For dental pulps, the structure of human teeth with narrow vascular openings at the apex of the roots makes it susceptible to the hypoxic condition. Hypoxic condition within the dental pulp tissue can be frequently occurred when the blood supply to tissues is disrupted as in the case of inflammation, during the use of local anesthetics containing vasoconstrictors, or dental trauma (7).

When pulpal inflammation or pulpitis occurs, pulp tissue pressure is elevated (48-49) and blood flow in the pulp falls in direct proportion to any increase in pulp tissue

pressure (50). The localized reduction in pulp blood flow, however, allows the accumulation of mediators of inflammation, which in turn, causes a spread in the elevation of tissue pressure, reducing pulp blood flow to a larger volume of pulp etc., leading to dull aching poorly localized pulp pain (50-51). With proper treatment, the hypoxic condition produced by the reduction in blood flow in dental pulp is transcient, and pulpal viability is generally improved by re-oxygenation after an increase of pulpal blood flow (52).

Hypoxia can also induce complex and cell type-specific pro- angiogenic responses. In human dental pulp cells, the expression of HIF- 1α and VEGF increased under hypoxic condition (53).

Low pO_2 condition was found to be an effective treatment to amplify numbers of progenitor cells from human dental pulp as hypoxia can significantly increase the cell number (54) and the side population in dental pulp cells (55) and re-oxygenation improves the hypoxia-induced pulp cell arrest (56).

CHAPTER III

EXPERIMENTAL DESIGN

Population

Human deciduous dental pulp cells

Samples

Human dental pulp tissues obtained from the sound deciduous teeth of healthy children 5- 12 years old with no systemic disease or local anesthetic allergy. The samples collections are done under the children's legal guardians' informed consents.

Inclusion criteria

- Human dental pulp obtained from the sound deciduous teeth of children
 5- 12 years old.
- 2. Human dental pulp obtained from the sound deciduous teeth of healthy children with no systemic disease.
- 3. Human dental pulp obtained from the sound deciduous teeth of healthy children with no local anesthetic allergy.
- 4. Human dental pulp obtained from the sound deciduous teeth of healthy children with legal guardians' informed consents.

Exclusion criteria

- 1. Human dental pulp obtained from the deciduous teeth with lesions.
- 2. Human dental pulp obtained from the sound deciduous teeth of healthy children with systemic disease.
- 3. Human dental pulp obtained from the sound deciduous teeth of healthy children allergic to local anesthetic agents.

4. Human dental pulp obtained from the sound deciduous teeth of healthy children without legal guardians' informed consents.

Study group

Human deciduous dental pulp cells incubated at 37°C for 16 hours at normal level of oxygen (20% oxygen) before expose to the 2% oxygen in a modular incubator chamber at 37°C for another 6, 9, 12, and 15 hours.

Control group

Human deciduous dental pulp cells incubated at 37°C for 16 hours at 20% oxygen until the end of the experiments.

Study variables

Independent variables

Oxygen levels

Dependent variables

The levels of inflammatory cytokines expressed

Materials

- 1. Sterile Phosphate Buffer Saline: PBS
- 2. Distill water
- Dulbecco modified Eagle medium: DMED, Sigma- Aldrich Co, St. Louis, MO, USA
- 4. 10% fetal bovine serum: FBS, Gibco, Grand Island, NY, USA
- 5. Penicillin, Gibco, Grand Island, NY, USA
- 6. Streptomycin, Gibco, Grand Island, NY, USA

- 7. Glutamine, Gibco, Grand Island, NY, USA
- 8. 35, 60 mm. cell culture dishes
- 9. 12- welled culture plates
- 10. TRIzol, Gibco, Grand Island, NY, USA
- 11. Chloroform
- 12. Isopropanol
- 13. Agarose
- 14. MTT ultrapure
- 15. Primers for 18S
- 16. Primers for interleukin-1 β : IL-1 β
- 17. Primers for interleukin-6: IL-6
- 18. Primers for interleukin-8: IL-8
- 19. Primers for vascular endothelial growth factor: VEGF
- 20. Primers for Rex-1
- 21. Primers for tumor necrosis factor- α : TNF- α
- 22. Nuclease free water
- 23. cDNA synthesis kits
- 24. Taq polymerase
- 25. Deoxyribonucleotidetriphosphate: dNTP
- 26. Cobalt chloride: CoCl₂, Sigma- Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, USA
- 27. Human IL-6 neutralizing antibody: R&D systems, MN, USA
- 28. Absolute ethanol
- 29. Methanol
- 30. Sealed plastic tubes 5 ml.
- 31. Microcentrifuge tubes 0.5, 1 ml.
- 32. PCR tubes 0.2 ml.
- 33. Disposable pipette tips 10, 200, 1000 µl.
- 34. Disposable latex gloves

Equipments

- 1. Modular incubator chamber, Billups- Rothenberg, CA, USA
- 2. Oxygen detector
- 3. Microplate Reader ELx800, Biotex
- 4. Nanodrop 2000, Thermo sciencetific
- 5. Enzyme- linked immunosorbent assay: ELISA kits for VEGF, IL-1 β , IL-6, R&D systems, MN, USA
- 6. UV/Visible spectrophotometer
- 7. Vortex, Genie2, Scientific Industries, USA
- 8. Centrifuge, Sigma, 101, Western Germany
- 9. High speed centrifuge, Sorvall, Super T 21, Dupont Company, USA
- 10. Microcentrifuge, Hero lab, Microcen 13, Hero lab GmbH, Germany
- 11. Low speed rotor
- 12. Shake 'n' stack hybridization oven, Hybaid, HBOVCST220, Hybaid Limited, UK
- 13. Water bath
- 14. Heating block
- 15. Polymerase chain reaction: PCR, PCR system
- 16. Horizontal electrophoresis apparatus
- 17. Gel Documentation System
- 18. Analytical balance
- 19. Automatic pipets
- 20. Quartz cuvette, Optiglass Ltd., Russia
- 21. Disposable cuvettes
- 22. Stainless scissors
- 23. Stainless forceps
- 24. Phase contrast light microscope
- 25. Digital camera, Fujifilm Finepix S100
- 26. Digital camera, Canon EOS 500D

Methodology/ Experimental Design

Sample Collection

Deciduous pulp tissues were obtained from nearly exfoliated teeth from children attended the Department of Pediatric Dentistry, Chulalongkorn University. Informed consent was obtained from each patient's legal guardian before the extraction was performed. Immediately after tooth extraction, the tooth was kept in a sterile tube containing Dulbecco's Modified Eagle's Medium (DMEM) containing 10% serum.

Cell Culture

The extracted tooth was extensively washed with sterile phosphate-buffered saline (PBS). Pulp tissue was removed from each extracted tooth using sterile forceps; cut into small pieces approximately 1x1 mm, and digested with type I collagenase for 1 hour at 4°C. The digestion was centrifuged and the explants were placed on the culture dishes and cultured with Dulbecco's Modified Eagle's Medium (DMEM) containing 10% serum. After cells crawled out of the explants and reached confluence, they were subcultured at 1:3 ratios. The cells at passage 3-5 were used in the experiments.

Hypoxic Condition

Hypoxic condition was performed using a modular incubator chamber (Billups-Rothenberg, CA, USA). Oxygen in the chamber was flushed with gas mixtures of 5% carbondioxide (CO_2) and balanced nitrogen (N2) until the oxygen level reached 2%.

The exact oxygen level for hypoxic condition both in vivo and in vitro is still unclear. Normally, HIF is activated at a cut-off point at approximately 5% O_2 (40 mmHg) (57) and most experiments performed with cultured cells are undertaken at between 1-2% O_2 (8-16 mmHg) (21). In this experiment, we selected 2% O_2 to demonstrate the hypoxic condition.

Techniques Used in the Study

MTT Assay

This assay is based on the ability of viable cells to reduce a tetrazolium-based compound, a 3- (4, 5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-2, 5-diphenyl tetrazolium bromide (MTT; USB Corporation), to a purplish formazan product. To determine cell number, the medium was replaced with MTT solution for 30 minutes at 37°C and the formazan product was dissolved in dimethylsulfoxide and read the absorbance at 570 nm. Cell proliferation was analyzed by the assay.

In brief, cells were seeded in the 24- welled plates at a density of 30,000 cells/ well. At the end of the culture period, the medium was replaced with MTT solution for 30 minutes at 37°C and the formazan product was dissolved in dimethylsulfoxide (DMSO, Sigma-Aldrich, Germany). The absorbance of the supernatant was evaluated with a Thermospectronic Genesis 10 UV-visible spectrophotometer at 570 nm.

The absorbance was converted into cell number using cell number standard curve. The cell number from the controlled group was marked as 1 fold and the cell number from the hypoxia group was divided by the number from the controlled group to make a fold difference.

RT-PCR

RNA was extracted from hDDP cells using TRIzol reagent (Roche Diagnostic, Indianapolis, IN, USA) according to the manufacturer's protocol. One μ g of mRNA was converted to cDNA using the ImPromII Reverse Transcription System (Promega, Southampton, UK). A polymerase-chain reaction (PCR) was performed using Tag polymerase (Tag DNA Polymerase, Invitrogen, Brazil). Specific primers for 18S, VEGF, IL-1 β , IL-6, IL-8, TNF- α and Rex-1 were used and the PCR reaction was performed in the DNA thermal cycler (Biometra GmH, Göttingen, Germany) and the amplified DNA was visualized by ethidium bromide fluorostaining (EtBr; Bio- Rad, USA).

Primer	Sequences	Cycles
18S	Forward : 5' GTGATGCCCTTAGATGTCC 3'	25
	Reverse : 5' CCATCCAATCGGTAGTAGC 3'	
VEGF	Forward: 5' CAAGGACAGCACATAGGAGA 3'	26
	Reverse : 5' GGTGGGTGTGTCTACGGGAA 3'	
IL-1 β	Forward: 5' GGAGCAACAAGTGGTGTTCT 3'	35
	Reverse : 5' AAAGTCCAGGCTATAGCCGT 3'	
IL-6	Forward: 5' CCTGAACCTTCCAAAGATGGC 3'	20
	Reverse : 5' CTGACCAGAAGAAGGAATGCC 3'	
IL-8	Forward: 5' CGATGTCAGTGCATAAAGACA 3'	20
	Reverse : 55' TGAATTCTCAGCCCTCTTCAAAAA 3'	
TNF-α	Forward : 5' AAGCCTGTAGCCCATGTTGT 3'	36
	Reverse : 5' CAGATAGATGGGCTCATACC 3'	
Rex-1	Forward : 5' AGAATTCGCTTGAGTATTCTGA 3'	35
	Reverse : 5' GGCTTTCAGGTTATTTGACTGA 3'	

Table 1 showed the sequences of the primers and the RT-PCR cycles used in the experiment

ELISA

Conditioned medium was collected to determine the levels of VEGF, IL-1 β , and IL-6 using ELISA kits according to the manufacturer's protocols (R&D Systems, Inc., Minneapolis, MN, USA).

Experimental Designs

Effects of Hypoxia on hDDP Cells

Cell cultures were grown in 6-welled plates at the density of 25×10^5 cells/ well at 37° C for 16 hours at normal level of oxygen (20%). Cells in the hypoxic group were then moved into a modular incubator chamber and incubated with 2% oxygen at 37° C. Alternative plates were cultured in the 20% oxygen and used as a controlled condition. Cells from three different donors were used in three separated experiments.

For morphological analysis, cells were exposed to the $2\%O_2$ for 6, 9, 12, and 15 hours. Cell morphology was observed under phase contrast microscope and photographs were taken under phase contrast light microscope using digital camera (Canon EOS 500D).

Cell number was determined by the MTT assay, and evaluated using standard curve. Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) and reverse transcription polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR) analysis was used to examine the secretion and expression of inflammatory cytokines, respectively.

Cell Response to Re-oxygenation after Hypoxic Condition

Cell cultures were grown in 35mm. dishes at density of 25 x 10^5 cells/ dish at 37° C for 16 hours at normal level of oxygen. Cells were then divided into 5 groups; group 1, cells were cultured in 2% O₂ for 1 hour and hen the media was changed and cells were cultures in 20% O₂ for another 11 hours, group 2 were cultured in 2% O₂ for 3 hours and hen the media was changed and cells were cultures in 20% O₂ for another 9 hours, group 3 were cultured in 2% O₂ for 6 hours and hen the media was changed and cells were cultured in 2% O₂ for 12 hours, and group 5 were cultured in 20% O₂ for 12 hours. (See figure 3.) ELISA and RT-PCR analysis were used to observe the secretion and expression of IL-6, respectively.



Figure 3. A study design for the "cell response to re-oxygenation after hypoxic condition" experiment.

Role of HIF-1 in Hypoxia-induced IL-6

Cell cultures were grown in 6- welled plates at the density of 25×10^5 cells/ well at 37° C for 16 hours at normal level of oxygen. Cobalt chloride (CoCl₂) (0, 50, 100, and 200 mM), an inorganic compound that can stabilize HIF-1 α , thus mimics the hypoxic condition, was used. Cells were then cultured at normal level of oxygen for 12 hours. ELISA and RT-PCR analysis were used to observe the secretion and expression of VEGF, and IL-6. See figure 4 for summary of all studies.



Figure 4. Summary of the study

Statistic Analysis

All experiments were performed at least three times, with the data being represented as mean \pm standard deviation (mean \pm SD). Results of proliferation and hypoxia experiments between two groups (hypoxia and control) were analyzed by Student t- test (p<0.05)

Ethical Considerations

1. The study was proposed for ethical approval from the ethical committee, Faculty of Dentistry, Chulalongkorn University.

2. The study process causes no harm to the patients as the extracted deciduous teeth used in the experiment are teeth that nearly exfoliated or the prolonged ones with the present of the permanent succidaneous teeth, which is the indication for tooth extraction in children. The extraction was performed under the standard protocol.

3. The legal guardians are informed about the details of the study process before signing the consent forms.

CHAPTER IV RESULTS

Effect of Hypoxia on Cell Morphology and Cell Number

Cell Morphology

Human deciduous dental pulp cells were subjected to the hypoxia condition with 2% of oxygen. The morphology was observed under phase contrast microscope. As shown in Fig. 5, hDDP cells, when cultured in hypoxia displayed a similar appearance compared to the control culture. However, a slight size reduction and fewer cell extensions could be observed in hDDP cells cultured in hypoxic condition ($2\%O_2$) for 15 hours.



Figure 5. Photograph showed the morphology of cells in culture: Human deciduous dental pulp cells were cultured in normal (20% O_2 ; a, c) or hypoxic (2% O_2 ; b, d) conditions. Photographs were taken under phase contrast microscope (Magnification: 4x) after 9 (a, b), and 15 (c, d) hours. The results showed a slight change in cell morphology.

Cell Number

The cell number, as determined by the MTT assay revealed lower number of cells in hypoxic groups as showed in Fig. 6. Cells were cultured in normal condition for 16 hours and subjected to hypoxic condition for 6, 9, 12 and 15 hours. Generally, the normal duplication time for dental pulp cells is approximately 24-26 hours. Therefore, increasing cell number observed at 9 hours in Fig. 6 corresponded with the normal duplication time in control condition. In hypoxia, the constant cell number was observed from 6 to 15 hours suggesting that low level of oxygen might interfere with the cell division.



Fold differences

Figure 6. Hypoxia decreased the dental pulp cells growth. Primary dental pulp cells were grown for 16 hours before subjected to the condition of 20% (control) or 2 % (hypoxia) oxygen for another 6-15 hours. The cell number was determined by MTT assay. The numbers of cells in all controlled groups were marked as 1 fold. Data were shown as mean \pm SD from three experiments.

Hypoxia Induced Expression of VEGF and IL-6 in hDDP Cells

To investigate the effect of hypoxia on inflammatory cytokines secretion, cells were cultured for 16 hours in normal condition; they were then subjected to hypoxic condition for another 12 hours. Total RNA was extracted and subjected to RT-PCR analysis. The VEGF expression was used as a positive control since the increasing expression of VEGF in cells underwent the hypoxic condition is well known. After 12 hours in hypoxia ($2\%O_2$) the up-regulation of VEGF expression was detected as expected. Interestingly, hypoxia could markedly induce the expression of IL-6 in deciduous dental cells as compared to the control ($20\%O_2$) as showed in Fig.7. Slight increase of IL-1 β and IL-8 expression was also detected. However, the expression of TNF- α mRNA was decreased in hypoxia.



Figure 7. Micrograph showed the results from RT-PCR analysis. The expression of cytokines in hDDP cells underwent 12 hours under hypoxic condition was examined. Up-regulation of both VEGF and IL-6 and the slightly increased in the expression of IL-1 β and IL-8 were observed. The expression level of 18S was used as an inner control.

The Increase in the Level of IL-6 Protein after 12 Hours under Hypoxic Condition

To confirm the effect of hypoxia on IL-6 expression, ELISA analysis was performed and the result of IL-6 secretion was shown in Fig. 8. Cell cultures were grown in 6-welled plates at the density of 25×10^5 cells/ well at 37° C for 16 hours at normal level of oxygen (20%). Cells in the hypoxic group were then moved into a modular incubator chamber and incubated with 2% oxygen at 37° C for 6, 9, 12, and 15 hours. Alternative plates were cultured in the 20% oxygen and used as a controlled condition. The medium were then used to analyze the amount of IL-6 protein secreted. The amount of IL-6 in each experiment was normalized to cell number and the levels of IL-6 secretion in all controlled groups were marked as 1 fold. The numbers above the graph represent the mean of fold increase after hypoxic condition. The result showed the level of IL-6 secretion significantly increased after 12 hours in the hypoxic condition.



Figure 8. Graph showed the results from ELISA analysis of secreted IL-6 from hDDP cells under hypoxic condition from 6 to 15 hours. Data was shown as mean \pm SD (p<0.05) from three separated experiments. * represents the significance at p<0.05.

Hypoxia-Induced IL-6 can be Observed after 1 Hour under Hypoxic Condition

To examine the minimum time required in hypoxia for IL-6 induction, hDDP cells were seeded and cultured in various time periods from 1-12 hours in hypoxia followed by normoxia until reached a total time of 12 hours in culture. For example, cells were exposed to hypoxia for 1 hour followed by normoxia for another 11 hours.

The result in Fig. 9 showed cells cultured in hypoxia for 1, 3 and 6 do not induced IL-6 secretion. Only 12 hours under the hypoxia did the significant increased on IL-6 secretion in hDDP cells was observed, consistent with the result from Fig. 8.



Fold differences

Figure 9. Graph showed the effect of hypoxia for 1, 3, 6, and 12 hours on hDDP cells. The significant increase in IL-6 secretion could be observed only at 12 hours under hypoxia. Data was shown as mean \pm SD (p<0.05) from three separated experiments. * represents the significance at p<0.05.

However, after cells were moved from hypoxic condition into normoxic condition with new medium, the level of IL-6 secretion started to increase above control as showed in Fig. 10. From the result, the condition of 1 hour in hypoxia followed by 11 hours in normoxia showed the highest and significant level of IL-6 secretion (Lane 1 in Fig.10). In contrast, cells cultured in 3 and 6 hours in hypoxia followed by 9 and 6 hours in normoxia did not increase the IL-6 secretion compared to the control. (Lanes 2 and 3 in Fig. 10). Graph in fig.11 showed the summary of cells cultured in hypoxia for 1 hour
followed by 11 hours in normoxia compared to the control culture for 1 and 12 hours in hypoxia.



Fold differences

Figure 10. The graph showed the effect of re-oxygenation on the IL-6 secretion. Cells were subjected to hypoxia for 1, 3, and 6 hours and the medium were changed before returning them to the normoxic condition until the end of study period.



Fold differences

 * represents the significance at p<0.05.

Figure 11. Graph showed the level of IL-6 secretion as determined by ELISA. The result indicated that one hour of hypoxia was sufficient to induced IL-6 secretion significantly at 12 hours.

HIF-1 was Involved in Hypoxia-Induced IL-6 and Hypoxia Induces VEGF and IL-6 Expressions via HIF-1 α

It is well documented that of hypoxia-inducible transcription factors (HIF) is activated and stabilized in hypoxic condition. Activated HIF will be trans-located into the nucleus, bound to hypoxia-responsive elements (HRE) and regulated gene expression. Activation of HIF-1 α activity could be mimicked by cobalt chloride (CoCl₂), an inorganic compound that can stabilize HIF-1 α . Therefore, this compound can be used to confirm the role of HIF in gene regulation. The results in Fig. 12 indicated that CoCl₂ could up-regulate the expression of IL-6 in a dose-dependent manner. The expression of VEGF was used as a control since VEGF is one of the targets of HIF-1. The result supports that HIF-1 also regulates IL-6 expression in hypoxic condition. The levels of VEGF and IL-6 secretion in the controlled groups (0 mM CoCl₂) were marked as 1 fold and the levels of VEGF and IL-6 in the experiment groups (50, 100, 200 mM CoCl₂) were compared with the controlled groups.



Fold differences

Figure 12. hDDP cells were treated with 50, 100 and 200 mM of $CoCl_2$ for 12 hours. ELISA analysis revealed that $CoCl_2$, a hypoxia mimetic agent, could increase both VEGF and IL-6 secretion. Data was shown as mean \pm SD (p<0.05) from three separated experiments. * represents the significance at p<0.05.

Hypoxia Up-Regulates Rex-1 Expression via IL-6 Secretion

In order to understand more about the certain effect of hypoxia on hDDP cells, apart from the inflammatory cytokines genes, some other possibly related genes were also screened. Interestingly, the RT-PCR analysis showed the up-regulation of Rex-1, a marker of embryonic stem cells and believed to play role in maintaining the stemness of the cells, expression after cultured in hypoxic condition as showed in Fig. 13.



Figure 13. This figure showed the RT-PCR analysis of Rex-1, OCT4, and Nanog expressions from hDDP cells underwent hypoxia for 12 hours. 18S was used as an inner control. Hypoxia could up-regulate the expression of Rex-1 in hDDP cells.

The results from Fig. 13 revealed the influence of hypoxia on the expression of Rex-1 in hDDP cells. To further clarify the relationship between the up-regulation of IL-6 and Rex-1, hDDP cells were cultured in hypoxic condition in the presence or absence of IL-6 neutralizing antibody. Shed were cultured in 6- welled plates at the density of 25 x 10^5 cells/ well at 37°C for 16 hours at normal level of oxygen. The cultures were treated with IL-6 neutralizing antibody (2µg/ml) for 1 hour prior to and subjected to hypoxic condition for another 12 hours. The expression of Rex-1 was determined by RT-PCR analysis.

The results in Fig. 14 confirmed the effect of hypoxia on Rex-1 expression. Interestingly, application of IL-6 neutralizing antibody could attenuate the induction of Rex-1 expression under hypoxic condition, suggesting the involvement of IL-6 in Rex-1 induction.



Figure 14. RT-PCR analysis showed the expression of Rex-1 in hDDP cells. Cells were subjected to hypoxic condition for 12 hours and RNA was extracted and processed for RT-PCR analysis. When compared the results from lane 1 and 3, expression of Rex-1 increased in hypoxic condition. Application of IL-6 neutralizing antibody suppressed the hypoxia-induced Rex-1 as shown in lane 3 and 4.

CHAPTER V DISCUSSION, CONCLUSION, AND SUGGESTION

Discussion

In this study, the results demonstrated that the level of oxygen could influence gene expression in human deciduous dental pulp cells (hDDP cells). Data from the study showed the influence of oxygen level on hDDP cells responses. When cells were cultured in the low oxygen level, some morphological changes such as size reduction and absence of cell extension could be observed. Furthermore, 12 hours of hypoxia could up-regulate the level of IL-6 expression and secretion via HIF-1 α and IL-6 was found to have an effect on the up-regulation of Rex-1 expression under hypoxic condition.

Oxygen is an essential factor in the survival of all cells and tissues. The level of oxygen, high or low, can lead to a number of pathophysiological consequences. *(21)*. For example, if oxygen delivery to cells is insufficient for the demand (hypoxia), hydrogen will be shifted to pyruvic acid converting it to lactic acid. Lactic acid build up (in tissues and blood) is a sign of inadequate mitochondrial oxygenation, which if severe or prolonged, could lead to cell death *(58)*. Hypoxia in which there is complete deprivation of oxygen supply is referred to as anoxia.

In arterial blood, interstitial oxygen tension (pO₂) is about 95 mmHg (~12%), and about 40 mmHg (~5%) in venous and capillary blood. In normal tissue, it is roughly in the range 4- 8% (24) and being 23.2 mmHg (equivalent to 3% O₂) in rat incisor pulp (59).

HIF, a master regulator of cellular response to hypoxia is the primary source of metabolic energy that widely expressed in all eukaryotic cells and tissues (18). HIF- α can be detected in many cell culture systems at a cutoff of around 5% (40 mmHg). However, most experiments performed with cultured cells are undertaken at between 1-2% oxygen (8-16 mmHg), which can be considered hypoxic but not as in many tumor cells (21).

Since HIF-1 α is highly inducible and its activation is largely specific to hypoxic condition, it is ideally suited as an assay target for such screening strategy. The data from the cobalt chloride experiment in this study showed the increasing in IL-6, as well as VEGF proteins secretion in a dose-dependent manner. The results from the study indicated that the level of oxygen we used (2% O₂) performed a hypoxic condition that stabilized HIF-1 α .

Hypoxia and Cell Survival

The result from MTT assay (Fig. 6) showed the decreasing of cells number after being cultured under hypoxic condition. A study showed that the combination of a lack of oxygen and a lack of nutrients causes energy deprivation and severe hypoxia can lead to apoptotic cell death (60). Apoptosis, a process of programmed cell death can be induced in response to hypoxia. HIF- 1α is also involved in hypoxia- induced apoptosis. Hypoxia in combination with hypoglycemia reduces proliferation and increases apoptosis in wild- type embryonic stem cells (ES), but not in ES cells with inactivated HIF- 1 α genes (61). Furthermore, HIF-1 can initiate apoptosis by inducing high concentrations of pro-apoptotic proteins such as BCL- 2/ adenovirus E1B 19 kDa interacting protein 3 (BNIP3), and can cause stabilization of the related tumorsuppressor protein p53. However, during hypoxia, anti-apoptotic proteins, such as inhibitor of apoptosis protein 2 (IAP-2), can be induced, whereas the pro-apoptotic proteins, such as Bax can be down- regulated (31). In this study, as 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS) was added to the media we used, the decreasing in cell number as seen from MTT assay may be the result from lack of oxygen alone. Apart from the level of oxygen, the survival of cells may depend on other factors as well. As our result on the effect of hypoxia on cell survival showed the decrease of cell number under hypoxic condition whereas another study on human dental pulp cells suggested that hypoxia is an effective treatment to amplify number of cells (62). However, the dental pulp cells in that study were obtained from third molars of adult patients, and the study was observed in a longer period of 14 days. Furthermore, the medium was changed every 2-3 days implicating a short-term of re-oxygenation, which can improve cell viability and cell

proliferation (52). Further study on the factors effecting cell survival under hypoxic condition may need to be done.

Hypoxia and inflammation

Inflammation is a part of complex biological responses of vascular tissues to harmful stimuli such as infection, pressure, hypoxia etc. and angiogenesis is an essential component of inflammation and its resolution. VEGF, a major regulator of both physiologic and pathologic angiogenesis (63) was found to participate in the revascularization of hypoxic tissues (64-66) including dental pulp cells (53, 67). Moreover, the pathologic picture in hypoxic tissue injury shares features with the inflammatory response, including production of pro-inflammatory cytokines. However, a study in mesenchymal cells under hypoxic condition found the release of IL-1 β and TNF- α from hypoxia/SD-stimulated mesenchymal cells was unexpectedly undetectable unless ATP or lipopolysaccharide was present, suggesting that IL-1 β and TNF- α are not responsible for the paracrine effects of mesenchymal cells under ischemic conditions (68).

In this study, the 12 hours under hypoxia $(2\%O_2)$ could increase the upregulation of some cytokines as showed in the RT-PCR analysis (Fig. 8). Hypoxia could markedly increase IL-6 mRNA expression as well as VEGF, a positive control in the study. However, hypoxia did not affect much in the expression of IL-1 β and TNF- α , the 2 major inflammatory cytokines known to be the potent stimulants of many genes involved in inflammation and bone destruction (40), as only slight increases in IL-1 β and IL-8 and no alternate of TNF- α expression could be observed.

After 12 hours under hypoxic condition, hDDP cells showed marked increases of IL-6 in both expression and protein secretion. IL-6 is a multifunctional cytokine that affects a variety of biological functions, including immunoglobulin production, acute phase reaction, inflammation, and plasmacytomegagenesis, by regulating cell growth, differentiation, and survival (69-71). The data from RT-PCR analysis (Fig. 7) and the result

from ELISA analysis (Fig. 8) showed significant increase of IL-6 after 12 hours under hypoxic condition. These data indicated that hypoxia increased IL-6 mRNA expression and protein secretion in hDDP cells at 12 hours under such condition. Hypoxia- induced expression of IL-6 is not limited to hDDP cells.

The increases in transcription, translation and release of the IL-6 gene product after the exposure to hypoxia can also be observed in other cells such as endothelial cells (72), and smooth muscles cells (73). Besides, the role of IL-6 in non-inflammatory process has also been reported. Accumulation of IL-6 can lead to production of adenosine by alkaline phosphatase and subsequent protection from ischemic injury (74). Furthermore, IL-6 also plays a pivotal role in a variety of CNS functions such as induction and modulation of reactive astrogliosis, pathological inflammatory responses and neuroprotection (75).

Hypoxia- Induced IL-6 can be observed after 1 Hour under Hypoxic Condition

The hypoxia-induced IL-6 protein release which could be detected after 12 hours might be considered as a late response when compared with the release of VEGF protein at 6 hours under hypoxic condition. Interestingly, the data showed in Fig. 11 indicated that 1 hour of hypoxia was enough to increase IL-6. However, the up-regulation of the expression detected was at 12-houred time. The data from Fig. 9 and Fig. 10 showed the effect of re-oxygenation on the secretion of IL-6 in hDDP cells. The period of normoxia time seemed to have an effect on the level of IL-6 secretion. In Fig. 9, the level of IL-6 detected was higher in the group that underwent the longer period of time under hypoxic condition. However, after being brought back to normoxia, the level of IL-6 was higher in the group that cells underwent hypoxic condition for shorter of time but stayed longer under normoxia as showed in Fig. 10. From the results, it is possible that if given enough time in re-oxygenation after cells undergo the hypoxic condition, the level of IL-6 can be up-regulated in hDDP cells as 1 only hour of hypoxia together with 11 hours of normoxia could significantly increase the level of IL-6 secretion.

Hypoxia Induces VEGF and IL-6 Expression via HIF-1 α

It has been very well documented that under hypoxic condition, VEGF is regulated via HIF (6). However, the up-regulation of IL-6 in hypoxia was still unclear. In this study, cobalt, a transition metal that can stabilize HIF, in the form of cobalt chloride $(CoCl_2)$ was used to perform hypoxia-mimicking condition. The expression of VEGF was used as a control since VEGF is one of the targets of HIF-1. The results in Fig. 12 indicated that culture of hDDP cells in the presence of $CoCl_2$ (0-200 mM) could up-regulate the expression of IL-6 in a dose-dependent manner, indicating that both VEGF and IL-6 are HIF-1 α - dependent cytokines.

The fact that hypoxia induced the release of IL-6 but not the major inflammatory cytokines such as IL-1 β , and TNF- α in dental pulp cells suggests the possibility that IL-6 release from hypoxia induction may participate in the non-inflammatory mechanism. And the delay in IL-6 secretion suggests the possibility that IL-6 may participate in the tissue repair after the damage caused by low oxygen level.

Recent studies showed that low oxygen concentration represent an important regulatory mechanism that allows the balance between self- renewal and differentiation of stem cells and influences proliferation, differentiation and maturation of committed progenitors (76-78). In addition, low oxygen concentration ($1\%O_2$) and IL-6 synergize could enhance the maintenance of hematopoietic stem cells from mouse bone marrow and the effect was correlated to the induction of VEGF (79).

Hypoxia Up-Regulates Rex-1 Expression via IL-6 Secretion

Stem cells have been characterized at the transcriptional level by the identification of stem cell specific marker genes. Rex-1 or zinc-finger protein-42 (Zfp42), an embryonic stem cells marker that was believed to play a role in maintaining the stemness of the cells is highly expressed in both mouse (80-81) and human embryonic stem (ES) cells (82-83). It is one of the important gene markers used to identify human stem cells (84). It was first identified in mouse F9 teratocarcinoma cells and its expression was found to decrease during cell differentiation following the addition of

retinoic acid (RA) (85). And Rex-1 mRNA levels decrease in response to the initiation of differentiation, independent of the presence of RA (81). It is believed that the Rex-1 gene and REX1 protein play crucial roles in regulating ES cell differentiation into different lineages (86-88). Furthermore, REX1 also regulates the proliferation/ differentiation of human mesenchymal stem cells (hMSCs) through the suppression of p38 MAPK signaling via the direct suppression of MKK3 (89).

The function of IL-6 in hypoxia-induced Rex-1 expression was suggested from this study. 12 hours under hypoxia could up-regulate the Rex-1 expression in hDDP cells. Moreover, IL-6 neutralizing antibody could attenuate the induction of Rex-1 expression under hypoxic condition, suggesting the role of IL-6 in Rex-1 induction.

A study has addressed another facet of IL-6 activity on stimulating the proliferation and differentiation of hematopoietic cells (90). And osteoblast-like cells have been demonstrated that hypoxia results in decreased cellular proliferation, decreased expression of proliferating cell nuclear antigen, and increased alkaline phosphatase (a marker of osteoblast differentiation) (91). The results from this study showed the possibility that hypoxia-induced IL-6 could induce Rex-1 expression in hDDP cells and may played a role in cell tissues repair or cell proliferation/ differentiation in response to the low oxygen environment.

Conclusion

Human deciduous dental pulp cells (hDDP cells) or stem cells from human exfoliated deciduous teeth (SHED) altered their behavior in hypoxic condition (2%O2). Morphological changes such as size reduction and absence of cell extension could be observed in hDDP cells cultured in hypoxic condition $(2\%O_2)$ for 15 hours. In addition, data from the MTT assay suggested that low level of oxygen might interfere with the cell number.

12 hours under hypoxia $(2\%O_2)$ could markedly increase the up-regulation of VEGF and IL-6 mRNA expression, slightly increase the expression of IL-1 β , and IL-8 but did not alter TNF- α expression, as shown in RT-PCR analysis. The level of IL-6 secretion significantly increased after 12 hours under hypoxic condition. The time- coursed study indicated that the minimum time exposure to hypoxic condition required for IL-6

induction was 1 hour. Culture of hDDP cells in the presence of $CoCl_2$ (0-200 mM) upregulated the expression of both VEGF and IL-6 mRNA in a dose-dependent manner, indicating that both VEGF and IL-6 are HIF-1 α - dependent cytokines.

Interestingly, the expression of Rex-1 increased after cultured in hypoxic condition. To clarify the role of IL-6 in hypoxia- induced Rex-1 expression, cells were treated with IL-6 neutralizing antibody for 1 hour prior to the hypoxic treatment. The result clearly indicated that IL-6 neutralizing antibody could attenuate the induction of Rex-1 expression under hypoxic condition, suggesting the role of IL-6 in Rex-1 induction.

Suggestion

In summary, this study has demonstrated the effects of hypoxia on cell morphology and number in hDDP cells. Hypoxia can also up-regulate the expression and the secretion of VEGF and IL-6 via HIF-1 α . IL-6 does play an important role in Rex-1 expression. Moreover, the late response of hypoxia-induced IL-6 and the expression of Rex-1 may participate in the tissue repair after the damage caused by low oxygen level. For a better understanding and the development of new therapeutic strategies for cells and tissues under critical stress, further investigations should be emphasized on the roles of the specific cytokines and the mechanisms involved in the response of dental pulp cells to hypoxia. Moreover, the effects of hypoxia on other dental pulp cells such as those from the permanent and the effects of different levels of oxygen for hypoxic condition should also be further investigated.

REFERENCES

- Utting, J. C., Flanagan, A. M., Brandao-Burch, A., Orriss, I. R., and Arnett, T. R. Hypoxia stimulates osteoclast formation from human peripheral blood. <u>Cell</u> <u>Biochem Funct</u> 28(5) (Jul 2010): 374-80.
- (2) Arnett, T. R., Gibbons, D. C., Utting, J. C., Orriss, I. R., Hoebertz, A., Rosendaal, M., et al. Hypoxia is a major stimulator of osteoclast formation and bone resorption. <u>J</u> <u>Cell Physiol</u> 196(1) (Jul 2003): 2-8.
- (3) Schipani, E., Ryan, H. E., Didrickson, S., Kobayashi, T., Knight, M., and Johnson, R.
 S. Hypoxia in cartilage: HIF-1alpha is essential for chondrocyte growth arrest and survival. <u>Genes Dev</u> 15(21) (Nov 1 2001): 2865-76.
- (4) Wilson, G. The effect of hypoxia on the shedding rate of the corneal epithelium. <u>Curr</u>
 <u>Eye Res</u> 13(6) (Jun 1994): 409-13.
- (5) Fong, G. H. Mechanisms of adaptive angiogenesis to tissue hypoxia. <u>Angiogenesis</u>
 11(2) (Jun 2008): 121-40.
- (6) Liu, Y., Cox, S. R., Morita, T., and Kourembanas, S. Hypoxia regulates vascular endothelial growth factor gene expression in endothelial cells. Identification of a 5' enhancer. <u>Circ Res</u> 77(3) (Sep 1995): 638-43.
- (7) Kim, S., Edwall, L., Trowbridge, H., and Chien, S. Effects of local anesthetics on pulpal blood flow in dogs. <u>J Dent Res</u> 63(5) (May 1984): 650-2.
- (8) Karhausen, J., Haase, V. H., and Colgan, S. P. Inflammatory hypoxia: role of hypoxia-inducible factor. <u>Cell Cycle</u> 4(2) (Feb 2005): 256-8.
- (9) Carlson, N. G., Wieggel, W. A., Chen, J., Bacchi, A., Rogers, S. W., and Gahring, L. C. Inflammatory cytokines IL-1 alpha, IL-1 beta, IL-6, and TNF-alpha impart neuroprotection to an excitotoxin through distinct pathways. <u>J Immunol</u> 163(7) (Oct 1 1999): 3963-8.

- (10) Ashhurst, D. E. Advances in Structural Biology: JAI Press Inc., 2000.
- (11) Bassett, C. A., and Herrmann, I. Influence of oxygen concentration and mechanical factors on differentiation of connective tissues in vitro. <u>Nature</u> 190 (Apr 29 1961): 460-1.
- (12) Semenza, G. L. Regulation of mammalian O2 homeostasis by hypoxia-inducible factor 1. <u>Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol</u> 15 (1999): 551-78.
- (13) Wang, G. L., Jiang, B. H., Rue, E. A., and Semenza, G. L. Hypoxia-Inducible Factor-1 Is a Basic-Helix-Loop-Helix-Pas Heterodimer Regulated by Cellular O-2 Tension. <u>P Natl Acad Sci USA</u> 92(12) (Jun 6 1995): 5510-4.
- (14) Iyer, N. V., Leung, S. W., and Semenza, G. L. The human hypoxia-inducible factor
 1alpha gene: HIF1A structure and evolutionary conservation. <u>Genomics</u> 52(2)
 (Sep 1 1998): 159-65.
- (15) Simmons, S. O. Hypoxia response: a model toxicity pathway for high-throughput screening. <u>Toxicol Sci</u> 112(1) (Nov 2009): 1-3.
- (16) Ziello, J. E., Jovin, I. S., and Huang, Y. Hypoxia-Inducible Factor (HIF)-1 regulatory pathway and its potential for therapeutic intervention in malignancy and ischemia. <u>Yale J Biol Med</u> 80(2) (Jun 2007): 51-60.
- (17) Guillemin, K., and Krasnow, M. A. The hypoxic response: huffing and HIFing. <u>Cell</u>
 89(1) (Apr 4 1997): 9-12.
- (18) Zhu, H., and Bunn, H. F. Signal transduction How do cells sense oxygen?
 <u>Science</u> 292(5516) (Apr 20 2001): 449-+.
- (19) Takeda, T., Tezuka, Y., Horiuchi, M., Hosono, K., Iida, K., Hatakeyama, D., et al. Characterization of dental pulp stem cells of human tooth germs. <u>J Dent Res</u> 87(7) (Jul 2008): 676-81.

- (20) Zinkernagel, A. S., Johnson, R. S., and Nizet, V. Hypoxia inducible factor (HIF) function in innate immunity and infection. <u>J Mol Med</u> 85(12) (Dec 2007): 1339-46.
- (21) Braun, R. D., Lanzen, J. L., Snyder, S. A., and Dewhirst, M. W. Comparison of tumor and normal tissue oxygen tension measurements using OxyLite or microelectrodes in rodents. <u>Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol</u> 280(6) (Jun 2001): H2533-44.
- (22) Gore, C. J., Clark, S. A., and Saunders, P. U. Nonhematological mechanisms of improved sea-level performance after hypoxic exposure. <u>Med Sci Sports Exerc</u> 39(9) (Sep 2007): 1600-9.
- (23) Semenza, G. L. Hypoxia-inducible factor 1: oxygen homeostasis and disease pathophysiology. <u>Trends Mol Med</u> 7(8) (Aug 2001): 345-50.
- (24) Ishikawa, Y., and Ito, T. Kinetics of hemopoietic stem cells in a hypoxic culture. <u>Eur</u>
 <u>J Haematol</u> 40(2) (Feb 1988): 126-9.
- (25) Brahimi-Horn, M. C., and Pouyssegur, J. Oxygen, a source of life and stress. <u>FEBS</u>
 <u>Lett</u> 581(19) (Jul 31 2007): 3582-91.
- (26) Simon, M. C., and Keith, B. The role of oxygen availability in embryonic development and stem cell function. <u>Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol</u> 9(4) (Apr 2008): 285-96.
- (27) Nakayama, K. Cellular signal transduction of the hypoxia response. <u>J Biochem</u> 146(6) (Dec 2009): 757-65.
- (28) Semenza, G. L. Oxygen-dependent regulation of mitochondrial respiration by hypoxia-inducible factor 1. <u>Biochem J</u> 405(1) (Jul 1 2007): 1-9.
- (29) Papandreou, I., Cairns, R. A., Fontana, L., Lim, A. L., and Denko, N. C. HIF-1 mediates adaptation to hypoxia by actively downregulating mitochondrial oxygen consumption. <u>Cell Metab</u> 3(3) (Mar 2006): 187-97.

- (30) Tothova, Z., Kollipara, R., Huntly, B. J., Lee, B. H., Castrillon, D. H., Cullen, D. E., et al. FoxOs are critical mediators of hematopoietic stem cell resistance to physiologic oxidative stress. <u>Cell</u> 128(2) (Jan 26 2007): 325-39.
- (31) Greijer, A. E., and van der Wall, E. The role of hypoxia inducible factor 1 (HIF-1) in hypoxia induced apoptosis. <u>J Clin Pathol</u> 57(10) (Oct 2004): 1009-14.
- (32) Maxwell, P. H., Wiesener, M. S., Chang, G. W., Clifford, S. C., Vaux, E. C., Cockman, M. E., et al. The tumour suppressor protein VHL targets hypoxiainducible factors for oxygen-dependent proteolysis. <u>Nature</u> 399(6733) (May 20 1999): 271-5.
- (33) Cockman, M. E., Masson, N., Mole, D. R., Jaakkola, P., Chang, G. W., Clifford, S. C., et al. Hypoxia inducible factor-alpha binding and ubiquitylation by the von Hippel-Lindau tumor suppressor protein. <u>J Biol Chem</u> 275(33) (Aug 18 2000): 25733-41.
- (34) Semenza, G. L. Life with oxygen. Science 318(5847) (Oct 5 2007): 62-4.
- (35) Wiesener, M. S., Turley, H., Allen, W. E., Willam, C., Eckardt, K. U., Talks, K. L., et al. Induction of endothelial PAS domain protein-1 by hypoxia: Characterization and comparison with hypoxia-inducible factor-1 alpha. <u>Blood</u> 92(7) (Oct 1 1998): 2260-8.
- (36) Semenza, G. L. HIF-1: mediator of physiological and pathophysiological responses to hypoxia. <u>J Appl Physiol</u> 88(4) (Apr 2000): 1474-80.
- (37) Epstein, A. C., Gleadle, J. M., McNeill, L. A., Hewitson, K. S., O'Rourke, J., Mole, D. R., et al. C. elegans EGL-9 and mammalian homologs define a family of dioxygenases that regulate HIF by prolyl hydroxylation. <u>Cell</u> 107(1) (Oct 5 2001): 43-54.
- (38) Yuan, Y., Hilliard, G., Ferguson, T., and Millhorn, D. E. Cobalt inhibits the interaction between hypoxia-inducible factor-alpha and von Hippel-Lindau protein by direct

binding to hypoxia-inducible factor-alpha. <u>J Biol Chem</u> 278(18) (May 2 2003): 15911-6.

- (39) Ferrero-Miliani, L., Nielsen, O. H., Andersen, P. S., and Girardin, S. E. Chronic inflammation: importance of NOD2 and NALP3 in interleukin-1beta generation. <u>Clin Exp Immunol</u> 147(2) (Feb 2007): 227-35.
- (40) van den Berg, W. B., Joosten, L. A., and van de Loo, F. A. TNF alpha and IL-1 beta are separate targets in chronic arthritis. <u>Clin Exp Rheumatol</u> 17(6 Suppl 18)
 (Nov-Dec 1999): S105-14.
- (41) Barton, B. E., and Jackson, J. V. Protective role of interleukin 6 in the lipopolysaccharide-galactosamine septic shock model. <u>Infect Immun</u> 61(4) (Apr 1993): 1496-9.
- (42) Tilg, H., Trehu, E., Atkins, M. B., Dinarello, C. A., and Mier, J. W. Interleukin-6 (IL-6) as an anti-inflammatory cytokine: induction of circulating IL-1 receptor antagonist and soluble tumor necrosis factor receptor p55. <u>Blood</u> 83(1) (Jan 1 1994): 113-8.
- (43) Fan, Y., Ye, J., Shen, F., Zhu, Y., Yeghiazarians, Y., Zhu, W., et al. Interleukin-6 stimulates circulating blood-derived endothelial progenitor cell angiogenesis in vitro. <u>J Cereb Blood Flow Metab</u> 28(1) (Jan 2008): 90-8.
- (44) Borg, S. A., Kerry, K. E., Royds, J. A., Battersby, R. D., and Jones, T. H. Correlation of VEGF production with IL1 alpha and IL6 secretion by human pituitary adenoma cells. <u>Eur J Endocrinol</u> 152(2) (Feb 2005): 293-300.
- (45) Hirano, T., Akira, S., Taga, T., and Kishimoto, T. Biological and clinical aspects of interleukin 6. <u>Immunol Today</u> 11(12) (Dec 1990): 443-9.
- (46) Karhausen, J., Haase, V. H., and Colgan, S. P. Inflammatory hypoxia Role of hypoxia-inducible factor. <u>Cell Cycle</u> 4(2) (Feb 2005): 256-8.

- (47) Hatoum, O. A., Miura, H., and Binion, D. G. The vascular contribution in the pathogenesis of inflammatory bowel disease. <u>Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol</u> 285(5) (Nov 2003): H1791-6.
- (48) Stenvik, A., Iversen, J., and Mjor, I. A. Tissue pressure and histology of normal and inflamed tooth pulps in macaque monkeys. <u>Arch Oral Biol</u> 17(11) (Nov 1972): 1501-11.
- (49) Tonder, K. J., and Kvinnsland, I. Micropuncture measurements of interstitial fluid pressure in normal and inflamed dental pulp in cats. <u>J Endod</u> 9(3) (Mar 1983): 105-9.
- (50) Van Hassel, H. J. Physiology of the human dental pulp. <u>Oral Surg Oral Med Oral</u> <u>Pathol</u> 32(1) (Jul 1971): 126-34.
- (51) Heyeraas, K. J. Pulpal, microvascular, and tissue pressure. <u>J Dent Res</u> 64 Spec No
 (Apr 1985): 585-9.
- (52) Ueno, Y., Kitamura, C., Terashita, M., and Nishihara, T. Re-oxygenation improves hypoxia-induced pulp cell arrest. <u>J Dent Res</u> 85(9) (Sep 2006): 824-8.
- (53) Aranha, A. M., Zhang, Z., Neiva, K. G., Costa, C. A., Hebling, J., and Nor, J. E.
 Hypoxia enhances the angiogenic potential of human dental pulp cells. <u>J Endod</u> 36(10) (Oct 2010): 1633-7.
- (54) Sakdee, J. B., White, R. R., Pagonis, T. C., and Hauschka, P. V. Hypoxia-amplified proliferation of human dental pulp cells. <u>J Endod</u> 35(6) (Jun 2009): 818-23.
- (55) Wang, J., Wei, X., Ling, J., Huang, Y., and Gong, Q. Side population increase after simulated transient ischemia in human dental pulp cell. <u>J Endod</u> 36(3) (Mar 2010): 453-8.
- (56) Ueno, Y., Kitamura, C., Terashita, M., and Nishihara, T. Re-oxygenation improves hypoxia-induced pulp cell arrest. <u>Journal of Dental Research</u> 85(9) (Sep 2006): 824-8.

- (57) Figg, W. D., Folkman, J. <u>Angiogenesis</u>, an <u>Integrative Approach from Science to</u> <u>Medicine</u>. New York: Springer Science and Business Media, LLC, 2008.
- (58) Hobler, K. E., and Carey, L. C. Effect of acute progressive hypoxemia on cardiac output and plasma excess lactate. <u>Ann Surg</u> 177(2) (Feb 1973): 199-202.
- (59) Yu, C. Y., Boyd, N. M., Cringle, S. J., Alder, V. A., and Yu, D. Y. Oxygen distribution and consumption in rat lower incisor pulp. <u>Arch Oral Biol</u> 47(7) (Jul 2002): 529-36.
- (60) Saikumar, P., Dong, Z., Patel, Y., Hall, K., Hopfer, U., Weinberg, J. M., et al. Role of hypoxia-induced Bax translocation and cytochrome c release in reoxygenation injury. <u>Oncogene</u> 17(26) (Dec 31 1998): 3401-15.
- (61) Carmeliet, P., Dor, Y., Herbert, J. M., Fukumura, D., Brusselmans, K., Dewerchin, M., et al. Role of HIF-1alpha in hypoxia-mediated apoptosis, cell proliferation and tumour angiogenesis. <u>Nature</u> 394(6692) (Jul 30 1998): 485-90.
- (62) Sakdee, J. B., White, R. K., Pagonis, T. C., and Hauschka, P. V. Hypoxia-amplified Proliferation of Human Dental Pulp Cells. <u>J Endodont</u> 35(6) (Jun 2009): 818-23.
- (63) Nor, J. E., Christensen, J., Mooney, D. J., and Polverini, P. J. Vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF)-mediated angiogenesis is associated with enhanced endothelial cell survival and induction of Bcl-2 expression. <u>Am J Pathol</u> 154(2) (Feb 1999): 375-84.
- (64) Forsythe, J. A., Jiang, B. H., Iyer, N. V., Agani, F., Leung, S. W., Koos, R. D., et al. Activation of vascular endothelial growth factor gene transcription by hypoxiainducible factor 1. <u>Mol Cell Biol</u> 16(9) (Sep 1996): 4604-13.
- (65) Manalo, D. J., Rowan, A., Lavoie, T., Natarajan, L., Kelly, B. D., Ye, S. Q., et al. Transcriptional regulation of vascular endothelial cell responses to hypoxia by HIF-1. <u>Blood</u> 105(2) (Jan 15 2005): 659-69.

- (66) Yamakawa, M., Liu, L. X., Date, T., Belanger, A. J., Vincent, K. A., Akita, G. Y., et al. Hypoxia-inducible factor-1 mediates activation of cultured vascular endothelial cells by inducing multiple angiogenic factors. <u>Circ Res</u> 93(7) (Oct 3 2003): 664-73.
- (67) Tran-Hung, L., Laurent, P., Camps, J., and About, I. Quantification of angiogenic growth factors released by human dental cells after injury. <u>Arch Oral Biol</u> 53(1) (Jan 2008): 9-13.
- (68) Li, Z., Wei, H., Deng, L., Cong, X., and Chen, X. Expression and secretion of interleukin-1beta, tumour necrosis factor-alpha and interleukin-10 by hypoxiaand serum-deprivation-stimulated mesenchymal stem cells. <u>FEBS J</u> 277(18) (Sep 2010): 3688-98.
- (69) Heinrich, P. C., Castell, J. V., and Andus, T. Interleukin-6 and the acute phase response. <u>Biochem J</u> 265(3) (Feb 1 1990): 621-36.
- (70) Hirano, T. Interleukin 6 and its receptor: ten years later. <u>Int Rev Immunol</u> 16(3-4)(1998): 249-84.
- (71) Van Snick, J. Interleukin-6: an overview. Annu Rev Immunol 8 (1990): 253-78.
- (72) Yan, S. F., Tritto, I., Pinsky, D., Liao, H., Huang, J., Fuller, G., et al. Induction of interleukin 6 (IL-6) by hypoxia in vascular cells. Central role of the binding site for nuclear factor-IL-6. <u>J Biol Chem</u> 270(19) (May 12 1995): 11463-71.
- (73) Ohkawa, F., Ikeda, U., Kawasaki, K., Kusano, E., Igarashi, M., and Shimada, K. Inhibitory effect of interleukin-6 on vascular smooth muscle contraction. <u>Am J</u> <u>Physiol</u> 266(3 Pt 2) (Mar 1994): H898-902.
- (74) Gallo, R. L., Dorschner, R. A., Takashima, S., Klagsbrun, M., Eriksson, E., and Bernfield, M. Endothelial cell surface alkaline phosphatase activity is induced by IL-6 released during wound repair. <u>J Invest Dermatol</u> 109(4) (Oct 1997): 597-603.

- (75) Tanabe, K., Matsushima-Nishiwaki, R., Yamaguchi, S., Iida, H., Dohi, S., and Kozawa, O. Mechanisms of tumor necrosis factor-alpha-induced interleukin-6 synthesis in glioma cells. <u>J Neuroinflammation</u> 7 (2010): 16.
- (76) Cipolleschi, M. G., Dello Sbarba, P., and Olivotto, M. The role of hypoxia in the maintenance of hematopoietic stem cells. <u>Blood</u> 82(7) (Oct 1 1993): 2031-7.
- (77) Ivanovic, Z., Bartolozzi, B., Bernabei, P. A., Cipolleschi, M. G., Rovida, E., Milenkovic, P., et al. Incubation of murine bone marrow cells in hypoxia ensures the maintenance of marrow-repopulating ability together with the expansion of committed progenitors. <u>Br J Haematol</u> 108(2) (Feb 2000): 424-9.
- (78) Koller, M. R., Bender, J. G., Miller, W. M., and Papoutsakis, E. T. Reduced oxygen tension increases hematopoiesis in long-term culture of human stem and progenitor cells from cord blood and bone marrow. <u>Exp Hematol</u> 20(2) (Feb 1992): 264-70.
- (79) Kovacevic-Filipovic, M., Petakov, M., Hermitte, F., Debeissat, C., Krstic, A., Jovcic, G., et al. Interleukin-6 (IL-6) and low O(2) concentration (1%) synergize to improve the maintenance of hematopoietic stem cells (pre-CFC). <u>J Cell Physiol</u> 212(1) (Jul 2007): 68-75.
- (80) Ramalho-Santos, M., Yoon, S., Matsuzaki, Y., Mulligan, R. C., and Melton, D. A.
 "Stemness": Transcriptional profiling of embryonic and adult stem cells. <u>Science</u> 298(5593) (Oct 18 2002): 597-600.
- (81) Rogers, M. B., Hosler, B. A., and Gudas, L. J. Specific expression of a retinoic acid-regulated, zinc-finger gene, Rex-1, in preimplantation embryos, trophoblast and spermatocytes. <u>Development</u> 113(3) (Nov 1991): 815-24.
- (82) Brivanlou, A. H., Gage, F. H., Jaenisch, R., Jessell, T., Melton, D., and Rossant, J.
 Stem cells. Setting standards for human embryonic stem cells. <u>Science</u> 300(5621) (May 9 2003): 913-6.

- (83) Richards, M., Tan, S. P., Tan, J. H., Chan, W. K., and Bongso, A. The transcriptome profile of human embryonic stem cells as defined by SAGE. <u>Stem Cells</u> 22(1) (2004): 51-64.
- (84) Raman, J. D., Mongan, N. P., Liu, L. M., Tickoo, S. K., Nanus, D. M., Scherr, D. S., et al. Decreased expression of the human stem cell marker, Rex-1 (zfp-42), in renal cell carcinoma. <u>Carcinogenesis</u> 27(3) (Mar 2006): 499-507.
- (85) Hosler, B. A., LaRosa, G. J., Grippo, J. F., and Gudas, L. J. Expression of REX-1, a gene containing zinc finger motifs, is rapidly reduced by retinoic acid in F9 teratocarcinoma cells. <u>Mol Cell Biol</u> 9(12) (Dec 1989): 5623-9.
- (86) Thompson, J. R., and Gudas, L. J. Retinoic acid induces parietal endoderm but not primitive endoderm and visceral endoderm differentiation in F9 teratocarcinoma stem cells with a targeted deletion of the Rex-1 (Zfp-42) gene. <u>Mol Cell</u> <u>Endocrinol</u> 195(1-2) (Sep 30 2002): 119-33.
- (87) Shi, W., Wang, H., Pan, G., Geng, Y., Guo, Y., and Pei, D. Regulation of the pluripotency marker Rex-1 by Nanog and Sox2. <u>J Biol Chem</u> 281(33) (Aug 18 2006): 23319-25.
- (88) Wang, J., Rao, S., Chu, J., Shen, X., Levasseur, D. N., Theunissen, T. W., et al. A protein interaction network for pluripotency of embryonic stem cells. <u>Nature</u> 444(7117) (Nov 16 2006): 364-8.
- (89) Bhandari, D. R., Seo, K. W., Roh, K. H., Jung, J. W., Kang, S. K., and Kang, K. S. REX-1 expression and p38 MAPK activation status can determine proliferation/differentiation fates in human mesenchymal stem cells. <u>PLoS One</u> 5(5) (2010): e10493.
- (90) Ikebuchi, K., Wong, G. G., Clark, S. C., Ihle, J. N., Hirai, Y., and Ogawa, M. Interleukin 6 enhancement of interleukin 3-dependent proliferation of multipotential hemopoietic progenitors. <u>Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A</u> 84(24) (Dec 1987): 9035-9.

(91) Steinbrech, D. S., Mehrara, B. J., Saadeh, P. B., Chin, G., Dudziak, M. E., Gerrets,
 R. P., et al. Hypoxia regulates VEGF expression and cellular proliferation by osteoblasts in vitro. <u>Plast Reconstr Surg</u> 104(3) (Sep 1999): 738-47.

Appendix

Cell Number

			•			
group1		Ν	Mean	Std. Deviation	Minimum	Maximum
CCe6	Cell	3	29.1600	1.63000	27.53	30.79
HCe6	Cell	3	28.2400	2.15000	26.09	30.39
CCe9	Cell	3	34.1800	4.15000	30.03	38.33
HCe9	Cell	3	27.0800	.37000	26.71	27.45
CCe12	Cell	3	35.1200	2.66000	32.46	37.78
HCe12	Cell	3	28.2367	4.85760	23.29	33.00
CCe15	Cell	3	40.6267	1.79339	38.69	42.23
HCe15	Cell	3	27.0867	7.31864	18.76	32.50

Descriptive Statistics

group1	-		Cell
CCe6	N		3
	Normal Parameters(a,b)	Mean	29.1600
		Std. Deviation	1.63000
	Most Extreme Differences	Absolute	.175
		Positive	.175
		Negative	175
	Kolmogorov-Smirnov Z		.303
	Asymp. Sig. (2-tailed)		1.000
HCe6	Ν		3
	Normal Parameters(a,b)	Mean	28.2400
		Std. Deviation	2.15000
	Most Extreme Differences	Absolute	.175
		Positive	.175
		Negative	175
	Kolmogorov-Smirnov Z		.303
	Asymp. Sig. (2-tailed)		1.000
CCe9	Ν		3
	Normal Parameters(a,b)	Mean	30.2300
		Std. Deviation	2.00749
	Most Extreme Differences	Absolute	.206
		Positive	.206
		Negative	186
	Kolmogorov-Smirnov Z		.357
	Asymp. Sig. (2-tailed)		1.000

One-Sample Kolmogorov-Smirnov Test

HCe9	Ν		3
	Normal Parameters(a,b)	Mean	26.4133
		Std. Deviation	1.48669
	Most Extreme	Absolute	.340
	Differences	Positive	.243
		Negative	340
	Kolmogorov-Smirnov Z		.588
	Asymp. Sig. (2-tailed)		.879
CCe12	Ν		3
	Normal Parameters(a,b)	Mean	35.1200
		Std. Deviation	2.66000
	Most Extreme	Absolute	.175
	Differences	Positive	.175
		Negative	175
	Kolmogorov-Smirnov Z		.303
	Asymp. Sig. (2-tailed)		1.000
HCe12	Ν		3
	Normal Parameters(a,b)	Mean	28.2367
		Std. Deviation	4.85760
	Most Extreme Differences	Absolute	.182
		Positive	.179
		Negative	182
	Kolmogorov-Smirnov Z		.315
	Asymp. Sig. (2-tailed)		1.000
CCe15	Ν		3
	Normal Parameters(a,b)	Mean	37.2933
		Std. Deviation	4.52948
	Most Extreme Differences	Absolute	.288
	Dinoronoco	Positive	.209
		Negative	288
	Kolmogorov-Smirnov Z		.498
	Asymp. Sig. (2-tailed)		.965
HCe15	Ν		3
	Normal Parameters(a,b)	Mean	31.9367
		Std. Deviation	4.66680
	Most Extreme Differences	Absolute	.375
		Positive	.273
		Negative	375
	Kolmogorov-Smirnov Z		.650
	Asymp. Sig. (2-tailed)		.792

a Test distribution is Normal.b Calculated from data.

Group Statistics

	group1	N	Mean	Std. Deviation	Std. Error Mean
Cell	CCe6	3	29.1600	1.63000	.94108
	HCe6	3	28.2400	2.15000	1.24130

Independent Samples Test

		Levene's Equality of	Test for Variances			t-test for	Equality of I	Means	_	
							Mean	Std. Error	95% Cor Interva Differ	nfidence I of the rence
		F	Sig.	t	df	Sig. (2-tailed)	Difference	Difference	Lower	Upper
Cell	Equal variances assumed	.149	.720	.591	4	.587	.92000	1.55771	-3.40490	5.24490
	Equal variances not assumed			.591	3.728	.589	.92000	1.55771	-3.53215	5.37215

T-Test

Group Statistics

					Std. Error
	group1	N	Mean	Std. Deviation	Mean
Cell	CCe9	3	30.2300	2.00749	1.15902
	HCe9	3	26.4133	1.48669	.85834

Levene's Test for Equality of Variances					t-test for Equality of Means						
							Mean	Std. Error	95% Co Interva Differ	nfidence I of the rence	
		F	Sig.	t	df	Sig. (2-tailed)	Difference	Difference	Lower	Upper	
Cell	Equal variance assumed	.154	.715	2.646	4	.057	3.81667	1.44225	18765	7.82099	
	Equal variance not assumed			2.646	3.686	.062	3.81667	1.44225	32560	7.95893	

Group Statistics

	group1	N	Mean	Std. Deviation	Std. Error Mean
Cell	CCe12	3	35.1200	2.66000	1.53575
	HCe12	3	28.2367	4.85760	2.80453

Independent Samples Test

		Levene's Equality of	Test for Variances			Means				
						Mean	Std. Error	95% Co Interva Diffe	nfidence Il of the rence	
		F	Sig.	t	df	Sig. (2-tailed)	Difference	Difference	Lower	Upper
Cell	Equal variance assumed	.723	.443	2.153	4	.098	6.88333	3.19749	-1.99432	15.76099
	Equal variance not assumed			2.153	3.100	.117	6.88333	3.19749	-3.10844	16.87511

T-Test

Group Statistics

					Std. Error
	group1	N	Mean	Std. Deviation	Mean
Cell	CCe15	3	37.2933	4.52948	2.61510
	HCe15	3	31.9367	4.66680	2.69438

		Levene's Equality of	Test for Variances			t-test for	Equality of	Means		
							Mean	Std. Error	95% Co Interva Diffe	nfidence Il of the rence
		F	Sig.	t	df	Sig. (2-tailed)	Difference	Difference	Lower	Upper
Cell	Equal variance assumed	.024	.885	1.427	4	.227	5.35667	3.75479	-5.06829	15.78163
	Equal variance not assumed			1.427	3.996	.227	5.35667	3.75479	-5.07196	15.78529

The Increase in the Level of IL-6 Protein after 12 Hours under Hypoxic Condition

group2		N	Mean	Std. Deviation	Minimum	Maximum
C6	IL6a	3	1.6527	.98712	.86	2.76
H6	IL6a	3	1.5600	.51069	1.00	2.00
C9	IL6a	3	.7500	.25000	.50	1.00
H9	IL6a	3	1.0667	.20817	.90	1.30
C12	IL6a	3	2.1133	.52166	1.52	2.50
H12	IL6a	3	4.9933	.71598	4.23	5.65
C15	IL6a	3	2.3333	.61101	1.80	3.00
H15	IL6a	3	5.4333	.55076	4.90	6.00

Descriptive Statistics

One-Sample Kolmogorov-Smirnov Test

group2			IL6a
C6	N		3
	Normal Daramatara(a b)	Mean	1.6527
	Normal Parameters(a,b)	Std. Deviation	.98712
	Most Extreme	Absolute	.294
	Differences	Positive	.294
		Negative	212
	Kolmogorov-Smirnov Z		.508
	Asymp. Sig. (2-tailed)		.958
H6	Ν		3
	Normal Daramatara(a.h)	Mean	1.5600
	Normal Parameters(a,b)	Std. Deviation	.51069
	Most Extreme	Absolute	.260
	Differences	Positive	.197
		Negative	260
	Kolmogorov-Smirnov Z		.450
	Asymp. Sig. (2-tailed)		.988
C9	Ν		3
	Normal Daramatara(a.h)	Mean	.7500
	Normal Parameters(a,b)	Std. Deviation	.25000
	Most Extreme	Absolute	.175
	Differences	Positive	.175
		Negative	175
	Kolmogorov-Smirnov Z		.303
	Asymp. Sig. (2-tailed)		1.000
H9	Ν		3
	Normal Parameters(a,b)	Mean	1.0667

		Std. Deviation	.20817
	Most Extreme	Absolute	.292
	Differences	Positive	.292
		Negative	212
	Kolmogorov-Smirnov Z		.506
	Asymp. Sig. (2-tailed)		.960
C12	Ν		3
	Newsel Developments (e. h.)	Mean	2.1133
	Normal Parameters(a,b)	Std. Deviation	.52166
	Most Extreme	Absolute	.321
	Differences	Positive	.229
		Negative	321
	Kolmogorov-Smirnov Z		.555
	Asymp. Sig. (2-tailed)		.917
H12	Ν		3
	Normal Daramatara(a.h)	Mean	4.9933
	Normal Parameters(a,b)	Std. Deviation	.71598
	Most Extreme	Absolute	.226
	Differences	Positive	.190
		Negative	226
	Kolmogorov-Smirnov Z		.391
	Asymp. Sig. (2-tailed)		.998
C15	Ν		3
	Normal Daramatara(a.b)	Mean	2.3333
	Normal Parameters(a,b)	Std. Deviation	.61101
	Most Extreme	Absolute	.253
	Differences	Positive	.253
		Negative	196
	Kolmogorov-Smirnov Z		.438
	Asymp. Sig. (2-tailed)		.991
H15	Ν		3
	Normal Daramatara(a.b)	Mean	5.4333
	Normal Parameters(a,b)	Std. Deviation	.55076
	Most Extreme	Absolute	.191
	Differences	Positive	.191
		Negative	182
	Kolmogorov-Smirnov Z		.330
	Asymp. Sig. (2-tailed)		1.000

a Test distribution is Normal.b Calculated from data.

Group Statistics

	group2	N	Mean	Std. Deviation	Std. Error Mean
IL6a	C6	3	1.6527	.98712	.56991
	H6	3	1.5600	.51069	.29484

Independent Samples Test

Levene's Test for Equality of Variance						t-test for	Equality of	Means		
							Mean	Std. Error	95% Co Interva Diffe	nfidence Il of the rence
		F	Sig.	t	df	Sig. (2-tailed)	Difference	Difference	Lower	Upper
IL6a	Equal variance assumed	1.913	.239	.145	4	.892	.09273	.64166	-1.68881	1.87428
	Equal variance not assumed			.145	2.999	.894	.09273	.64166	-1.94970	2.13516

T-Test

Group Statistics

	group2	N	Mean	Std. Deviation	Std. Error Mean
IL6a	C9	3	.7500	.25000	.14434
	H9	3	1.0667	.20817	.12019

		Levene's Equality of	Test for Variances			t-test for	Equality of	Means		
							Mean	Std. Error	95% Co Interva Differ	nfidence I of the rence
		F	Sig.	t	df	Sig. (2-tailed)	Difference	Difference	Lower	Upper
IL6a	Equal variances assumed	.013	.914	-1.686	4	.167	31667	.18782	83815	.20482
	Equal variances not assumed			-1.686	3.873	.169	31667	.18782	84496	.21163

Group Statistics

	group2	N	Mean	Std. Deviation	Std. Error Mean
IL6a	C12	3	2.1133	.52166	.30118
	H12	3	4.9933	.71598	.41337

Independent Samples Test

Levene's Test for Equality of Variances						t-test for	Equality of	Means		
							Mean	Std Error	95% Co Interva Diffe	nfidence Il of the rence
		F	Sig.	t	df	Sig. (2-tailed)	Difference	Difference	Lower	Upper
IL6a	Equal variances assumed	.238	.651	-5.631	4	.005	-2.88000	.51146	-4.30003	-1.45997
	Equal variances not assumed			-5.631	3.657	.006	-2.88000	.51146	-4.35421	-1.40579

T-Test

Group Statistics

	group2	N	Mean	Std. Deviation	Std. Error Mean
IL6a	C15	3	2.3333	.61101	.35277
	H15	3	5.4333	.55076	.31798

Levene's Test for Equality of Variances			Test for Variances			t-test for	Equality of	Means		
							Mean	Std Error	95% Co Interva Diffe	nfidence I of the rence
		F	Sig.	t	df	Sig. (2-tailed)	Difference	Difference	Lower	Upper
IL6a	Equal variances assumed	.080	.791	-6.527	4	.003	-3.10000	.47493	-4.41861	-1.78139
	Equal variances not assumed			-6.527	3.958	.003	-3.10000	.47493	-4.42419	-1.77581

Hypoxia-Induced IL-6 can be observed after 1 Hour under Hypoxic Condition

group		Ν	Mean	Std. Deviation	Minimum	Maximum
C12	IL6	3	160.0333	1.32885	158.65	161.30
H12	IL6	3	340.5500	1.76918	338.65	342.15
H1N11	IL6	3	253.3467	3.75032	249.32	256.74

Descriptive Statistics

One-Sample Kolmogorov-Smirnov Test

group			IL6
C12	Ν		3
	Normal Parameters a,b	Mean	160.0333
		Std. Deviation	1.32885
	Most Extreme	Absolute	.202
	Differences	Positive	.184
		Negative	202
	Kolmogorov-Smirnov Z		.349
	Asymp. Sig. (2-tailed)		1.000
H12	Ν		3
	Normal Parameters a,b	Mean	340.5500
		Std. Deviation	1.76918
	Most Extreme	Absolute	.234
	Differences	Positive	.192
		Negative	234
	Kolmogorov-Smirnov Z		.405
	Asymp. Sig. (2-tailed)		.997
H1N11	Ν		3
	Normal Parameters a,b	Mean	253.3467
		Std. Deviation	3.75032
	Most Extreme	Absolute	.234
	Differences	Positive	.192
		Negative	234
	Kolmogorov-Smirnov Z		.405
	Asymp. Sig. (2-tailed)		.997

a. Test distribution is Normal.

b. Calculated from data.

Group Statistics

	group	N	Mean	Std. Deviation	Std. Error Mean
IL6	C12	3	160.0333	1.32885	.76721
	H12	3	340.5500	1.76918	1.02144

Independent Samples Test

		Levene's Equality of	Test for Variances		t-test for Equality of Means					
							Mean	Std. Error	95% Confidence Interval of the Difference	
		F	Sig.	t	df	Sig. (2-tailed)	Difference	Difference	Lower	Upper
IL6	Equal variance: assumed	.293	.617	-141.307	4	.000	180.51667	1.27748	-184.064	-176.970
	Equal variances not assumed			-141.307	3.712	.000	180.51667	1.27748	-184.175	-176.859

T-Test

Group Statistics

					Std. Error
	group	N	Mean	Std. Deviation	Mean
IL6	C12	3	160.0333	1.32885	.76721
	H1N11	3	253.3467	3.75032	2.16525

		Levene's Equality of	Test for Variances	for ncest-test for Equality of Means						
							Mean	Std. Error	95% Confidence Interval of the Difference	
		F	Sig.	t	df	Sig. (2-tailed)	Difference	Difference	Lower	Upper
IL6	Equal variances assumed	2.487	.190	-40.621	4	.000	-93.31333	2.29716	99.69126	86.93541
	Equal variances not assumed			-40.621	2.494	.000	-93.31333	2.29716	-101.538	85.08860

HIF-1 was Involved in Hypoxia-Induced IL-6 and Hypoxia Induces VEGF and IL-6 Expressions via HIF-1 $\!\alpha$

	-			Std.		
group3		N	Mean	Deviation	Minimum	Maximum
V0	CoCl2	3	.4367	.03512	.40	.47
V50	CoCl2	3	.5093	.03495	.48	.55
V100	CoCl2	3	.7683	.02021	.75	.79
V200	CoCl2	3	.8807	.00115	.88	.88
IL0	CoCl2	3	.5100	.01000	.50	.52
IL50	CoCl2	3	.5667	.04163	.52	.60
IL100	CoCl2	3	.7567	.08021	.68	.84
IL200	CoCl2	3	.9413	.01026	.93	.95

Descriptive Statistics

One-Sample Kolmogorov-Smirnov Test

group3			CoCl2
V0	Ν		3
	Normal Parameters(a b)	Mean	.4367
	Normal Parameters(a,b)	Std. Deviation	.03512
	Most Extreme	Absolute	.204
	Differences	Positive	.185
		Negative	204
	Kolmogorov-Smirnov Z		.354
	Asymp. Sig. (2-tailed)		1.000
V50	Ν		3
	Normal Parameters(a b)	Mean	.5093
		Std. Deviation	.03495
	Most Extreme	Absolute	.272
	Differences	Positive	.272
		Negative	201
	Kolmogorov-Smirnov Z		.471
	Asymp. Sig. (2-tailed)		.980
V100	Ν		3
	Normal Parameters(a b)	Mean	.7683
		Std. Deviation	.02021
	Most Extreme	Absolute	.232
	Differences	Positive	.232
		Negative	192
	Kolmogorov-Smirnov Z		.402

V200	Asymp. Sig. (2-tailed) N		.997 3
	Normal Parameters(a h)	Mean	.8807
	Norman arameters(a,b)	Std. Deviation	.00115
	Most Extreme	Absolute	.385
	Dillerences	Positive	.385
		Negative	282
	Kolmogorov-Smirnov Z		.667
	Asymp. Sig. (2-tailed)		.766
ILO	Ν		3
	Normal Parameters(a.b)	Mean	.5100
	•••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••	Std. Deviation	.01000
	Most Extreme	Absolute	.175
	Differences	Positive	.175
		Negative	175
	Kolmogorov-Smirnov Z		.303
	Asymp. Sig. (2-tailed)		1.000
IL50	N	Maaa	3
	Normal Parameters(a,b)	Mean Std. Deviation	.5667
		Std. Deviation	.04163
	Differences	ADSOIUTE	.292
	2	Positive	.212
	Kalmanana Cmimay 7	Negalive	292
	Kolmogorov-Smirnov Z		.506
11 4 0 0	Asymp. Sig. (2-tailed)		.960
	IN	Moon	3
	Normal Parameters(a,b)	Std. Doviation	./56/
	Most Extromo		.08021
	Differences	Positivo	.200
		Negative	.200
	Kolmogorov-Smirnov Z	Negative	104
	Asymp Sig (2-tailed)		.340
11 200	N		1.000
12200		Mean	0/12
	Normal Parameters(a,b)	Std Deviation	.9413
	Most Extreme	Absolute	.01020
	Differences	Positive	.209
		Negative	- 260
	Kolmogorov-Smirnov 7		209
	Asymp. Sig. (2-tailed)		.+00 082
			.002

a Test distribution is Normal.

b Calculated from data.

Group Statistics

					Std. Error
	group3	Ν	Mean	Std. Deviation	Mean
CoCl2	V0	3	.4367	.03512	.02028
	V50	3	.5093	.03495	.02018

Independent Samples Test

		Levene's Equality of	Test for Variances		t-test for Equality of Means					
							Maan	Otd. Error	95% Coi Interva	nfidence I of the
		F	Sig.	t	df	Sig. (2-tailed)	Difference	Difference	Lower	Upper
CoCl2 Equ ass	ual variance umed	.009	.927	-2.540	4	.064	07267	.02860	15209	.00675
Equ not	ual variance assumed			-2.540	4.000	.064	07267	.02860	15209	.00675

T-Test

Group Statistics

					Std. Error
	group3	N	Mean	Std. Deviation	Mean
CoCl2	V0	3	.4367	.03512	.02028
	V100	3	.7683	.02021	.01167

		Levene's Equality of	Test for Variances		t-test for Equality of Means					
							Mean	Std. Error	95% Confidence Interval of the Difference	
		F	Sig.	t	df	Sig. (2-tailed)	Difference	Difference	Lower	Upper
CoCl2	Equal variance assumed	.694	.452	-14.178	4	.000	33167	.02339	39662	26672
	Equal variance not assumed			-14.178	3.193	.001	33167	.02339	40363	25971

Group Statistics

	group3	N	Mean	Std. Deviation	Std. Error Mean
CoCl2	V0	3	.4367	.03512	.02028
	V200	3	.8807	.00115	.00067

Independent Samples Test

		Levene's Equality of	Test for Variances	t-test for Equality of Means							
							Mean	Std. Error	95% Confidence Interval of the Difference		
		F	Sig.	t	df	Sig. (2-tailed)	Difference	Difference	Lower	Upper	
CoCl2	Equal variances assumed	4.937	.090	-21.886	4	.000	44400	.02029	50033	38767	
	Equal variances not assumed			-21.886	2.004	.002	44400	.02029	53111	35689	

T-Test

Group Statistics

	group3	N	Mean	Std. Deviation	Std. Error Mean
CoCl2	IL0	3	.5100	.01000	.00577
	IL50	3	.5667	.04163	.02404

		Levene's Equality of	Test for Variances	t-test for Equality of Means							
							Mean	Std. Error	95% Co Interva Differ	nfidence I of the rence	
		F	Sig.	t	df	Sig. (2-tailed)	Difference	Difference	Lower	Upper	
CoCl2	Equal variances assumed	5.694	.075	-2.292	4	.084	05667	.02472	12530	.01197	
	Equal variances not assumed			-2.292	2.230	.136	05667	.02472	15318	.03985	
T-Test

Group Statistics

	group3	N	Mean	Std. Deviation	Std. Error Mean	
CoCl2	IL0	3	.5100	.01000	.00577	
	IL100	3	.7567	.08021	.04631	

Independent Samples Test

		Levene's Equality of	Test for Variances	t-test for Equality of Means							
							Mean	Std Error	95% Confidence Interval of the Difference		
		F	Sig.	t	df	Sig. (2-tailed)	Difference	Difference	Lower	Upper	
CoCl2	Equal variances assumed	3.903	.119	-5.286	4	.006	24667	.04667	37623	11710	
	Equal variances not assumed			-5.286	2.062	.032	24667	.04667	44177	05157	

T-Test

Group Statistics

					Std. Error	
	group3	N	Mean	Std. Deviation	Mean	
CoCl2	IL0	3	.5100	.01000	.00577	
	IL200	3	.9413	.01026	.00593	

Independent Samples Test

	Levene's	Test for Variances	t-test for Equality of Means							
						Mean	Std. Error	95% Confidence Interval of the Difference		
	F	Sig.	t	df	Sig. (2-tailed)	Difference	Difference	Lower	Upper	
CoCl2 Equal variance assumed	.045	.843	-52.137	4	.000	43133	.00827	45430	40836	
Equal variance not assumed			-52.137	3.997	.000	43133	.00827	45431	40836	

BIOGRAPHY

Miss Jarintorn Kotheeranurak was born on 13th February 1982 in Bangkok. She graduated with D.D.S. (Doctor of Dental Surgery) from the Faculty of Dentistry, Chulalongkorn University in 2006, and had worked at Takhli hospital in Nakornsawan province for 2 years. She started her Master degree program in Pediatric Dentistry at Graduate School, Chulalongkorn University in 2009.